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REPORT FROM THE PRESIDENT AND 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

It is with pleasure that we present the Northeast Health 
Wangaratta (NHW) Annual Report for 2012/ 2013. 

As the major referral hospital for the central Hume 
region, we take the most complex medical and 
surgical patients from our referring district hospitals 
and we provide acute and community based care 
across a wide geographic area. Our mission is; ‘To 
provide healthcare that enhances the quality of life of 
people in North East Victoria.’

This year’s Annual Report takes a comprehensive look 
at the financial position and the linked Quality of Care 
report, which will be widely circulated, demonstrates 
our accountability to continually grow and improve 
the services we provide to our community. 

The ongoing implementation of our ‘Hardwiring 
for Excellence’ program drives our Vision; ‘To be 
recognised leaders in rural healthcare.’ Our Values 
are deeply entrenched in our work practices and 
behavours, and our staff are committed to the 
delivery of high quality, safe and effective care across 
all areas of our service.  

Our Victorian Patient Satisfaction Monitor (VPSM) 
results have seen NHW consistently score equal to or 
above the state and category average in each of the 
satisfaction indices in 2012.  Six of the eight satisfaction 
indices from our latest results (July – December 2012) 
showed statistically higher scores than the average 
amongst the B Group Hospitals. 

We are pleased to report continued achievement 
across the six pillars that frame NHW’s 2011-2014 
Strategic Plan. 

Particular highlights during the 2012/ 2013 year 
include:

• Substantial improvement in NHW’s financial
position with a $712,000 improvement against our
budgeted position;

• MRI service established in July 2012, with 2,301
patients examined during the year to end of June;

• Progression of capital works and infrastructure
projects including a new Dental Clinic and
Outpatients zone in Clark Street; a new same-day
Theatre and Recovery Unit, and the building of a
four bed Observation Ward and triage area in the
Emergency Department;

• A new generator providing reliable emergency
power backup, and lightning protection has been
installed to reduce risk of service interruption;

• Establishment of an afterhours Emergency
Department Telehealth service to support the
Urgent Care Centre at Yarrawonga Health;

• Successful transition of Mental Health services to
form the North East Border Mental Health Services
(NEBMHS) in partnership with Albury Wodonga
Health and Beechworth Health Service;

• Refurbishment of the Margaret Boyd Education
Centre (MBC) to support our expanding teaching
commitment.

• Completion of the Site Master Plan to guide future
infrastructure development;

2012/13 was another busy year at NHW, and a 
snapshot of activity shows us that:

• 14,654 patients were admitted to NHW, which
represents an increase of 4% (up from a 0.7%
increase of the previous year);

• This increase was supported by a continued
growth in Elective Surgery procedures, up 3% to
2,299, contributing to the total surgical procedures
performed in 2012/2013 of 5,572. A new Theatre
to be finished in late 2013 will further enable our
capacity to fulfill our elective surgery demand and
specialised surgical services;

• The number of patients presenting to the
Emergency Department dropped 0.4% to 20,752
presentations, the first decrease in 7 years. This is
an indicator of the positive impact of the other
excellent health initiatives in place within our
community;

• There were 52,669 occasions of service in the
Medical Imaging department, which represents an
8.6% growth from the previous year;
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• We welcomed 553 new babies;
• Residential Aged Care occupancy at Illoura 

remains high at 95.4%;
• Our Community based services continue to 

expand to meet demand. There were 12,544 
episodes of outpatient treatments a 5% increase, 
and 1,721 bed days through our Hospital in the 
Home Program, which is a 20% increase on the 
previous year.

The achievements during the year would not have 
been possible without the dedicated commitment 
of our 1,112 staff. We recognise and commend their 
dedication and expertise. NHW has a long history of 
attracting and retaining quality candidates to our 
health service and we were delighted to welcome 
five new medical specialists to our community during 
the last year. 

The creation of a learning/ teaching/ research culture 
has been further supported by the strengthening of 
our partnership the University of Melbourne. NHW 
provided placement for 78 medical students for 
various intervals during the year, as well as placement 
for a range of allied health and nursing students from 
partner tertiary facilities.

A heightened focus on research and innovation has 
led to improvements in many areas. Over the past 
year our active engagement in rural clinical research 
has been demonstrated through participation in multi-
site national studies and in us leading local clinical 
research projects across surgery, anaesthetics, acute 
medicine, obstetrics, aged care and pharmacy. Our 
staff has authored fourteen peer reviewed original 
research publications and eleven peer reviewed 
conference presentations as a direct result of this 
research activity. 

The level of community engagement in our health 
service is one of the cornerstones of our success.  
We are currently supported by 207 volunteers and 
demonstration of their valued commitment during the 
year has included:

• Participation in a comprehensive 4 days training 
& orientation program implemented for all new 
volunteers. This ensures they understand infection 
control and Occupational Health and Safety 
requirements, are trained in all areas where 
volunteers can participate (eg: assisted feeds, 
hand massage, pastoral care elements, looking 
after themselves), and gives all new volunteers a 
good grounding to start their journey with us;

• Medical ward now have volunteers providing 
diversional and practical support for patients;

• 25 Galen Students are now ‘Meal Time Buddies’ at 
Illoura Residential Aged Care.

We acknowledge and thank all who have supported 
NHW including the Department of Health, Board 
Members of NHW, the Executive team, our Visiting 
Medical Officers (VMOs), our partner organisations, all 
our staff, volunteers, clients and carers.

Margaret Bennett 
Chief Executive Officer

Chris. Cunningham 
Chair, Board of Management

“We will continue to provide the best 
possible care to our patients and 
further develop our services to meet 
demand and enhance access for the 
community we are proud to serve.”
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OUR STRATEGIC PLAN 2011-2014

Our Vision:
To be recognised leaders in rural healthcare 

Our Mission:
To provide healthcare that enhances the quality of life of people in North East Victoria 

Our Values:
Caring

Excellence

Respect

Integrity 

Fairness 

Commitments & Strategies:
Clinical Services

Quality & Innovation

Organisational Management

People, Learning & Research

Facilities & Environment

Community & Partnerships 
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STAFF

Labour Category

June 
Current Month FTE

June 
YTD FTE

2013 2012 2013 2012
Nursing 352.27 413.86 374.59 405.25
Admin/Clerical 102.70 107.89 102.56 105.41
Medical Support 58.97 57.94 59.22 58.45
Hotel/Allied 80.43 83.26 85.17 85.47
Medical 1.07 1.07 1.07 1.08
Hospital Medical Officers 40.71 32.11 35.25 33.07
Sessional Clinical 4.07 6.57 5.00 5.37
AlliedHealth 52.42 62.46 56.65 63.32
Grand Total 692.64 765.16 719.51 757.42

LIFE GOVERNORS
M Wilson  E G O’Keefe R A Underwood
P Fiddes S Leitl J Mounsey 
C Cutler  S J Oxley
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DISCLOSURE INDEX

The Annual Report of Northeast Health Wangaratta is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation.  
This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the Department’s compliance with statutory disclosure 
requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

Ministerial Directions

Report of Operations

Charter and purpose

FRD 22C Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 10

FRD 22C Objectives, functions, powers and duties 3

FRD 22C Nature and range of services provided 9

Management and structure

FRD 22C Organisational structure 8

Financial and other information

FRD 10 Disclosure index 5

FRD 11 Disclosure of ex-gratia payments NA

FRD 15B Executive Officer disclosures 69

FRD 21B Responsible person and executive officer disclosures 68

FRD 22C Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 10

FRD 22C Application and operation of Protected Disclosure Act 2012 11

FRD 22C Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building Act 1993 10

FRD 22C Details of consultancies over $10,000 11

FRD 22C Details of consultancies under $10,000 11

FRD 22C Major changes or factors affecting performance 1

FRD 22C Occupational health and safety 10

FRD 22C Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives 1

FRD 22C Significant changes in financial position during the year 1

FRD 22C Statement of availability of other information 11

FRD 22C Statement on National Competition Policy 10

FRD 22C Subsequent events 69

FRD 22C Summary of the financial results for the year 21

FRD 22C Workforce Data Disclosures including a statement on the application of employment 
and conduct principles

4, 11

FRD 25A Victorian Industry Participation Policy Disclosures 11
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DISCLOSURE INDEX

Legislation Requirement Page Reference

SD 4.2 (j) Responsible Bodies Declaration 7

SD 3.4.13 Attestation on Data Integrity 7

SD 4.5.5.1 Attestation on Compliance with the Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5.1- Insurance 7

SD 4.5.5 Attestation on Compliance with Australian/New Zealand Risk Management 
Standard

7

Financial Statements 

Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA

SD 4.2(a) Statement of Changes in Equity 25

SD 4.2(b) Comprehensive Operating Statement 23

SD 4.2(b) Balance sheet 24

SD 4.2(b) Cash Flow statement 26

Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2

SD 4.2(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative 
pronouncements

28

SD 4.2(c) Accountable officer’s declaration 73

SD 4.2(c) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 28

SD 4.2(d) Rounding of amounts 30

Legislation

Freedom of Information Act 1982 10

Protected Disclosure Act 2012 11

Victorian Industry Participation Policy Act 2003 11

Building Act 1993 10

Financial Management Act 1994 11
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RESPONSIBLE BODIES DECLARATION

Attestation on Data Integrity 
We, Chris. Cunningham, (Chair) and Margaret Bennett (CEO) certify that Northeast Health Wangaratta has put in 
place appropriate internal controls and processes to ensure that the Department of Health is provided with data 
that reflects actual performance.  Northeast Health Wangaratta has critically reviewed these controls and processes 
during the year. 

Margaret Bennett   Chris. Cunningham 
Chief Executive Officer   Chair, Board of Management 

Wangaratta, 30 June 2013.

Responsible Bodies Declaration
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, we are pleased to present the Report of Operations for 
Northeast Health Wangaratta for the year ending 30 June 2013.

Margaret Bennett   Chris. Cunningham 
Chief Executive Officer   Chair, Board of Management 

Wangaratta, 30 June 2013.

Attestation for Compliance with the Ministerial Standing Direction 4.5.5.1 – 
Insurance 
We, Chris Cunningham (Chair) and Margaret Bennett (CEO) certify that Northeast Health Wangaratta has complied 
with Ministerial Direction 4.5.5.1 – Insurance. 

Margaret Bennett   Chris. Cunningham 
Chief Executive Officer   Chair, Board of Management 

Wangaratta, 30 June 2013.

Attestation on Compliance with Australian/New Zealand Risk Management 
Standard
We, Chris. Cunningham (Chair) and Margaret Bennett (CEO) certify that Northeast Health Wangaratta has risk 
management processes in place consistent with the Australian/New Zealand Risk Management Standard (AS/NZS 
ISO 31000:2009)  and an internal control system is in place that enables the Executives to understand, manage and 
satisfactorily control risk exposures.  The Audit Committee verifies this assurance and that the risk profile of Northeast 
Health Wangaratta has been critically reviewed within the last 12 months. 

Margaret Bennett   Chris. Cunningham 
Chief Executive Officer   Chair, Board of Management 

Wangaratta, 30 June 2013.
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

Ms C Cunningham - President
BA, BLit, MSc, GAICD

Mr B Schutt – Vice President
B.Bus (Acct), CPA

Mr A Wills 
Dip Religion

Mr D Lawson

Ms K Harmon, AM
BAdmin, GradCertMgt, GradCertIntH, 
DipNursSt, DipNursAdmin, RN, RM, 
FRCNA

Ms L Williamson
Dip of AdvNurs (Gerentology) A.C.A.E, 
(U.N.E.), Dip Nurs Admin (U.N.E.), 
A.C.A.E. BA (Nursing) (U.N.E.)

Mr R Lawford
B. Bus

Mr E Higgins
B. Bus (Maj Mgmt & Mktg), Post Grad 
Dip Mktg, Masters Mktg

External Audit

Chief Executive Officer
Ms M Bennett
Grad Dip Bus Admin, RN, RM

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible to 
the Board of Directors for the efficient and effective 
management of Northeast Health Wangaratta (NHW). 
Prime responsibilities include the development and 
implementation of operational and strategic planning, 
maximising service efficiency and quality improvement 
and minimising and managing risk. Margaret represents 
NHW in a range of broader forums at a regional and 
state level.  Margaret also Chairs the Hume Region 
Integrated Community Mental Health Planning & 
Service coordination initiative.

Chief Operating Officer/ Deputy CEO
Mr D Tidbury
B. Bus (Accounting), CPA, AFCHSM

The Deputy CEO & Chief Operating Officer has 
responsibility for corporate services including Finance, 
Health Information, Communications, Facilities 
Management, Engineering, Information Technology, 
Logistics, Occupational Health and Safety, Medical 
Imaging, Environmental and Food Services. The role is 
also responsible for financial management, governance 
and reporting requirements to the Board, Department of 
Health and external bodies.

Director of Medical Services
Dr J M Elcock
BMedSci(Hons), MB BS, MBA, FRACGP, FRACMA

The Director of Medical Services has professional 
responsibility for Visiting Medical Officers, Staff Specialists 
and Hospital Medical Officers across all clinical services 
and has operational responsibility for the Emergency 
Department, Pharmacy and the Medical Library. The 
Director of Medical Services has clinical responsibility 
for Medical Imaging and Pathology. The role is also 
responsible for recruitment and credentialing of medical 
staff in addition to working with other members of the 
Executive to provide clinical governance, strategic 
planning and resource management for the health 
service.

Director of Nursing
Ms M Pease
FRCNA, BA Appl Sc (Ng), RN, RM, MHA, ACHSE

The Director of Nursing has professional responsibility 
for nursing across clinical streams and executive 
responsibility for acute nursing services including, 
Emergency, Critical Care, Perioperative, Day Surgery, 
Oncology, Renal Dialysis, General Medical and MAPs, 
General Surgical, Paediatrics, Maternity and Special 
Care Nursery and Residential Aged Care Services.  
Major areas of responsibility include Clinical Leadership 
and Standards of Practice, Nursing credentialing and 
resource management, service and strategic planning 
and clinical risk management and quality improvement.

Board of Management Executive Directors
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North East Victoria Area Mental Health Manager 
Mr M Nuck
RN, RPN, BA

Finance
Food Services
Environmental & Security Services
Facilities & Maintenance
Information Technology
Supply Department
Communication & Clerical 
Health Information
Medical Imaging
Bio-Medical Engineer Liaison
Hume Rural Health Alliance (HRHA) Liaison

Emergency Department
Pharmacy
Pathology
Nuclear Medicine
Medical Library
Rural Clinical School, University of Melbourne Liaison
Hospital Medical Officers 
Visiting Medical Officers

Acute Wards
Sub acute
Operating Theatres
Day Stay Unit
Oncology
Dialysis
Critical Care
Admission & Discharge Unit
Community Midwife Program
Infection Control
Gerontology Nurse Practitioners
Illoura Residential Aged Care
Thomas Hogan Rehabilitation Unit
Organ & Tissue Donation

Kerferd Inpatient Mental Health
Older Persons Mental Health Service
Community Mental Health
Integrated Primary Mental Health
Care Coordination
Mental Health Nurse Practitioner

Brokerage Service
Clinical Services
Allied Health Programs (Acute)
Central Hume Dental Service
Hume Region Palliative Care
Palliative Care
Breast Care
Orthopaedic Outpatient Clinic
Hospital Admission Risk Program
Post Acute Care (PAC)
Sub acute Care Services
Community Nursing
Transition Care Program
Extended Aged Care Service
Personal Care Service 
Community Health Services
Community Aged Care Packages

Quality & Safety Manager
Ms M Butler
RN, Dip App Sci (Dental Therapy), Grad Dip Health 
Admin, Cert IV Workplace Assessment

Human Resources / Industrial Relations Manager
Mr L Butler
B. Lab. Stud

Community Health & Partnerships Manager
Mr P Crimmin
RN, BN, Grad Cert Comm, Grad Cert in Leadership, 
Grad Cert in Stomal 

Education & Research Manager
Dr S Wilson
RN, Paed Cert, Grad Dip Adv Clin Nsg (Psych), BA, 
BSc, Grad Dip Ed (P-12), MEd, PhD (Manager)

Community Engagement Team

Executive Departments Services
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Minister for Health in the State of Victoria
Northeast Health Wangaratta was established under the Health Services Act 1988. The responsible Minister during 
the reporting period was The Minister for Health and Ageing, The Honourable David Davis MLC and The Honourable 
Mary Wooldridge MLA, Minister for Mental Health. 

Audit Act 1994
Northeast Health Wangaratta's Audit Committee consists of: Mr Brendan Schutt (Chair), Mr Martin Clifford (Indep), 
Ms Ruth Kneebone (Indep), Ms Chris. Cunningham, Mr David Lawson, Mr Rick Lawford, Ms Margaret Bennett, Mr Don 
Tidbury, Mr Ross Moore, Ms Michelle Butler. 

National Competition Policy
Northeast Health Wangaratta applies competitive neutral costing and pricing arrangements to significant business 
units within its operations.  These arrangements are in line with Government policy and the model principles 
applicable to the health sector.

Freedom of Information, Information Privacy & Health Records Acts
Northeast Health Wangaratta has a Freedom of Information Officer and a process in place for the public to access 
their medical records. The Freedom of Information Act 1982, Information Privacy Act 2000 and Health Records 
Act 2001 provide for members of the public to access their medical record for the purpose of viewing, amending 
incorrect notations or copying parts of the record. During the year there were 452 requests of Northeast Health 
Wangaratta under the Act.  All, except for one requests was complied with within the required 45 days.

Compliance with the Victorian Building Act 1993
Northeast Health Wangaratta complies with the provisions of the Building Act 1993 in accordance with the 
Department of Health Capital Development Guidelines (Minister for Finance Guideline Building Act 1993/ Standards 
for Publicly Owned Buildings 1994/ Building Regulations 2005 and Building Code of Australia 2004).

Statement on Environmental Performance
Northeast Health Wangaratta’s (NHW) sustainability report is completed annually for the Resourcesmart Program. 
NHW has achieved the sustainability goals as set out in the Resourcesmart Program, along with the progression of 
additional energy initiatives.

Compliance with the Occupational Health & Safety Act 2004
Northeast Health Wangaratta complies with the Occupation Health & Safety Act 2004 and its associated regulations 
and code of practice to meet the Australian Council of Health Care Standards requirements. The organisation 
monitors its compliance through an Occupational Health & Safety Committee which reports to the Board of 
Management and Quality & Safety Committee. All staff injuries and hazards in the workplace are reported and 
followed up via the ‘Riskman’ web based incident management system available to all staff. We support our staff 
both in the provision of training to reduce risk of injury and, if an injury does occur, a comprehensive return to work 
program. 

STATEMENTS OF COMPLIANCE
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STATEMENTS OF COMPLIANCE

Protected Disclosure Act 2012
Northeast Health Wangaratta has in place appropriate procedures for disclosure in accordance with the Protected 
Disclosure Act 2012.  No protected disclosures were made under the Act in 2012/2013.

Financial Management Act 1994
The information provided in this report has been prepared in accordance with the Directions of the Minister for 
Finance Part 9.1.3 (IV) and is available to relevant Ministers, Members of Parliament and the public on request.

Statement of Merit and Equity 
Northeast Health Wangaratta ensures a fair and transparent process for recruitment, selection, transfer and 
promotion of staff.  It bases its employment selection on merit, and complies with relevant legislation including equal 
employment opportunity and the Fair Work Act, Australia and the National Employment Standards.  Northeast 
Health Wangaratta has policies and procedures in place that ensure employees are respected and treated fairly.  
These policies also provide avenues for grievance and complaint processes.  

Consultancies 2012/13
In 2012-13, Northeast Health Wangaratta engaged 5 consultancies where the total fee payable to the consultant 
was less than $10,000 with a total expenditure of $14,450 (exc GST).

Details of Individual consultancies

Consultant Purpose of consultancy Start date End date

Total 
approved 

project fee  
(Excluding  GST)

Expenditure  
2012-13 

(Excluding  GST)

Future 
Expenditure 

(Excluding  GST)
Studer Group Leadership Coaching 1/07/2012 30/06/2013 $70,000 $178,000 $60,000
Lehr Consulting Masterplan Design 1/07/2012 30/06/2013 $48,200 $12,460 $20,000
Syris Consulting Cinical Costing 1/07/2012 30/06/2013 $18,500 $17,360 $18,000

Contracts
Northeast Health Wangaratta abides by the Victorian Industry Participation Policy(VIPP) Act 2003 . In 2012/13 the 
following contracts commenced to which VIPP applies:

• Procedures Unit, Emergency Department and Dental Clinic redevelopment – value of contract $3,596,031 with 
185 FTE local jobs and 5 FTE apprenticeships committed at an overall local content of 90%.

• Radiology Services Agreement – value of contract $18,000,000 over 9 years with a local content of workforce at 
100%.
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Priority Action Deliverable Outcomes
Developing a 
system that is 
responsive to 
people’s needs

In partnership with 
other providers within 
the local area, apply 
existing service capability 
frameworks to maximise 
the use of available 
resources across the local 
area. 

• Complete the establishment 
of the new entity, Border 
North East Mental Health 
Service, in partnership with the 
Department of Health, Albury 
Wodonga Health (AWH) and 
Beechworth Health.

• Border North East Mental 
Health Service successfully 
established

• Develop and maintain clinical 
pathways that improve 
access to all available mental 
health beds for appropriate 
out-of-area patients when 
in the best interest of the 
consumer and carer(s)

• Bed Management policy 
and procedure in place 
and reviewed. Process 
for accepting out of area 
admissions reviewed and in 
place. 3% of acute admissions 
identified as “out of area 
consumers”.

Collaborate with key 
partners

and service providers 
to respond to local 
issues, including issues 
of distance and travel 
time experienced by 
some rural and regional 
Victorians. 

• Establish a magnetic 
resonance imaging (MRI) 
service at NHW.

• MRI successful established 
with 2,301 patients examined 
during the year

• Establish a new Clinical 
Director of Obstetrics and 
Gynaecology role for the 
Central Hume in collaboration 
with surrounding health 
services.

• Position established in 
collaboration with District 
Hospitals, with positive 
evaluation of achievement 
against objectives during the 
year

• Collaborate with AWH 
in establishing a shared 
approach to the provision of 
orthopaedic services across 
the Border North East region.

• Timely access for community 
patients has been improved 
with reduced waiting 
times and allocating, 
where possible, beds for 
direct admissions from the 
community.

• Strengthen access to sub 
acute service within the 
Central Hume.

• A rehabilitation specialist 
has been appointed and 
commenced services in 
Sub-Acute Care, including 
the establishment of an 
outpatient clinic and an 
increased focus on the 
treatment and management 
of stroke patients

Explore opportunities to 
develop strategies that 
support greater service 
responsiveness for diverse 
populations. 

• Appoint an Aboriginal Patient 
Transition Officer to support 
Aboriginal people following 
discharge from NHW.

• Aboriginal Patient Transition 
officer successfully appointed 
in partnership with Ovens and 
King Community Health

• Achieve capital works 
program on time and 
within budget: expansion of 
emergency department (ED), 
including 4 observation beds, 
establishment of new day 
theatre surgery and dental 
clinic.

• Capital works projects are 
being completed on time 
and on budget.

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES  
Part A: Strategic Priorities 2012 / 2013
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Priority Action Deliverable Outcomes
Improving every 
Victorian’s 
health status 
and experiences

Collaborate with key 
partners such as members 
of local PCP, the newly 
formed Medicare 
Locals, community 
health services and 
Aboriginal health service 
providers to support 
local implementation of 
relevant components of 
the Victorian Health and 
Wellbeing Plan 2011–2015. 

• Active contribution to 
establishment of the Strategic 
Plan for the newly formed 
Hume Medicare local.

• Active ongoing liaison 
with the Hume Medicare 
Local both at a Board and 
Operational level. 

• Established a partnership 
approach with Goulburn 
Valley and Hume Medicare 
Locals with funding to 
support establishment of ED 
telehealth between NHW and  
Yarrawonga Health Service

Consider new models 
of care and more 
coordinated services to 
respond to the specific 
needs of people with 
priority clinical conditions. 

• Establish a new model of care 
within NHWs ED following 
completion of  capital works 
of a four bed short stay / 
observation unit, enhancing 
access and patient flow.

• New model of care ready to 
be activated when new unit 
comes on line in Dec 2013

• Establish restorative care beds 
at NHW.

• Restorative Beds established 
from Oct 2012, with full 
utilization since that time

• Establish a Stroke Liaison Nurse 
role to improve patient care 
outcomes.

• Stroke Liaison Nurse role 
is established and works 
closely with the rehabilitation 
specialist

• Establish a new model of 
care for day surgery following 
completion of a new same 
day theatre unit

• New model of care for day 
surgery has been developed 
and will be implemented with 
the completion of the capital 
works to the ADU area.

• Community Forum held with 
local Aboriginal leaders and 
Community Worker

• Conduct two community 
forums focussing on 
facilitating communication 
between NHW and its 
catchment community.

• General Community Forum 
conducted with external 
facilitator in August 2012 with 
suggested improvement from 
the community members

• Increase membership of 
the Community Advisory 
Committee by a minimum of 
two members, to broaden 
community participation in 
health service planning and 
delivery.

• Community Advisory 
Committee grown by two 
new members

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES  
Part A: Strategic Priorities 2012 / 2013
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Priority Action Deliverable Outcomes
Expanding 
service, 
workforce and 
system capacity

Develop collaborative 
approaches to deliver 
professional education, 
training and support. 

• Collaboration with Murray 
to Mountains (M2M) 
-  development of rural 
generalist pathway. 

• Rural Generalist training 
position in Obstetrics 
established

• Collaboration with M2M and 
AWH - shared recruiting and 
rotational positions at junior 
doctor level

• Joint recruiting and rotations 
for junior doctors established 
with M2M with agreement for 
expansion in 2013/14 year

Identify opportunities to 
address workforce gaps 
by optimising workforce 
capability and capacity, 
and exploring alternative 
workforce models.

• Implementation of NHW 
workforce plan 

• medical
• allied health
• nursing 
• aging workforce
• local research 

• Implementation of learning 
environment framework.

• New Graduate nurse numbers 
remain strong with a mid year 
intake

• Implementation of VicPlace 
clinical placement platform

• Upgrade to student 
accommodation block (RIA 
Grant)

• Upgrade to the Margaret 
Boyd Education Centre 
meeting & training rooms 
(CPN Small Capital Works 
Grant)

• Upgrade/additional VC 
& information technology 
training support equipment 
(RIA Grant)

• Integration of medical 
student training program into 
education & research unit

• Established DoH Value 
Added Project – Transition to 
Retirement Program

• Launch of Anna Margaret 
Suter Scholarship for staff 
development

• Implementation of 
comprehensive concurrent 
education event and skills 
development calendar

• Implementation of pilot 
Clinical Leadership 
Professional Development 
Program for surgical unit 
ANUM’s

• Inaugural NHW Research 
Scholarship awarded

• Implementation and 
evaluation of new online, 
person centred staff 
orientation program

• Workforce Plan developed 
with collaboration from all 
major staffing groups

• E3 system successfully 
implement to enable an 
online education platform

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES  
Part A: Strategic Priorities 2012 / 2013
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Priority Action Deliverable Outcomes
Increasing 
the system’s 
financial 
sustainability 
and productivity

Identify opportunities for 
efficiency and better 
value service delivery.

• Introduce new performance 
reporting

• New performance framework 
implemented

Develop and support 
alternative arrangements 
that drive greater 
financial productivity 
and sustainability through 
more efficient purchasing 
of non- clinical services. 

• Achieve financial 
improvement plan strategies.

• Achievement of strategies 
enabled NHW to improve 
financial position with 
performance $711,000 
favourable to budget

• Develop procedures for 
improved waste recycling & 
environmental processes.

• New recycling and education 
program implemented with 
a 19% reduction in general 
waste disposal

Examine and reduce 
variation in administrative 
overheads.

• Expand provision of corporate 
services to rural health and 
aged care services.

• Increased provision of 
corporate services to health 
services in the Northeast 
region including payroll, 
supply and health information 
management.

Implementing 
continuous 
improvements 
and innovation

Develop and implement 
improvement strategies 
that better support 
patient flow and the 
quality and safety of 
hospital services. 

• Establishment of discharge 
planning position

• Successful recruitment 
to a permanent position 
achieved.

• Monthly Divisional 
Accountability Framework 
implemented,

• Weekly activity informatics 
reporting introduced.

• Performance & Reporting 
unit established along with a 
new suite of reports designed 
to strengthen accountability 
and improve performance.

• Achieve NEAT and surgical 
waiting list NEST targets.

• NEAT targets are monitored 
closely with improvement in 
systems and processes being 
noted.

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES  
Part A: Strategic Priorities 2012 / 2013
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Priority Action Deliverable Outcomes
Implementing 
continuous 
improvements 
and innovation

Develop and implement 
improvement strategies 
that better support 
patient flow and the 
quality and safety of 
hospital services. 

• Achieve KPIs for  identified 
clinical focus areas:

• Falls
• Deteriorating Patient
• Blood Transfusion
• Wound Management
• Stroke Care

• Implement monthly 
performance accountability 
program.

• Introduce informatics & 
performance scorecards.

• Improve performance 
measurement and reporting 
framework.

• Surgical Waiting list targets 
met

• Compliance with the relevant 
national standards has been 
achieved

• A reduction in patient falls 
has been achieved across 
the year.  New processes 
and prompts have been 
introduced.

• An observation and response 
chart for adult patients in 
the medical, surgical and 
sub-acute wards has been 
introduced.  Further rollout to 
Maternity, Emergency Dept 
and paediatrics is planned.

• Protocols, guidelines and 
policies have been reviewed 
and updated.  

• Best practice program for 
wound management has 
been implemented with 
improvements in wound 
management and pressure 
injury prevalence noted.

• Early intervention by 
stroke liaison nurse and 
rehabilitation specialist has 
been implemented for all 
newly diagnosed stroke 
patients.  There is high 
compliance with the National 
Stroke Network performance 
measures.  A nurse initiated 
swallow assessment has been 
implemented early in the 
patients presentation to the 
Emergency Department.

Develop and implement 
strategies that support 
service innovation and 
redesign. 

Expanded clinical redesign 
methodology within quality team.

Redesign position incorporated 
with Quality team in 2012/13

Changes to ward and pharmacy 
processes have seen a decrease 
in time patients waiting for scripts

Improvement in JMO clinical 
handover and prescribing 
practice by JMO redesign 
position

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES  
Part A: Strategic Priorities 2012 / 2013
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Priority Action Deliverable Outcomes
Increasing 
accountability 
and 
transparency

Implement systems that 
support streamlined 
approaches to clinical 
governance at all levels 
of the organisation. 

• Strengthen role and function 
of the clinical review 
committee 

• Clinical Audit framework 
in place with reporting 
requirements established

• Clinical Review Committee 
agenda now covers all 
accreditation and risk aspects 
of the clinical aspect of NHW

• Expand the clinical audit 
program at NHW.

• Clinical audit program 
significantly expanded 
to meet organisational 
and national standard 
requirements

Continue to strengthen 
the capability of rural 
health service boards 
and senior management 
to ensure that ongoing 
stewardship obligations of 
rural and regional health 
services can be met.

• Evaluate the role of Director 
of Obstetrics for the Central 
Hume.

• Positive evaluation of Director 
of Obstetrics for the Central 
Hume resulting in continuation 
of the role

• Governance training for 
Board and Executive.

• A comprehensive Board 
training program is in place 
and was commended by 
the ACHS surveyors at the 
Accreditation review.

Improving 
utilisation of 
e-health and 
communications 
technology.

Maximise the use of 
health ICT infrastructure to 
better connect a broad 
range of health care and 
other health – related 
workforces. 

• Explore options for tele-
health services, including 
support to smaller health 
services; emergency  and 
rehabilitation medicine

• Telehealth service established 
between NHW Emergency 
department and Yarrawonga 
Health.

Trial, implement and 
evaluate strategies that 
use ICT as an enabler of 
better patient care. 

• Evaluate NHWs newly 
established online orientation 
system.

• Evaluation completed

Work with partners to 
better connect service 
providers and deliver 
appropriate and timely 
services to rural and 
regional Victorians. 

• Establish strategic direction 
to upgrade NHWs clinical 
information and management 
systems.

• Performance Unit established 
to strengthen clinical 
informatics reporting.

• Plan IT capital requirements to 
enable service delivery

• Market scoping conducted 
on integrated reporting 
system

Investigate new patient 
management system 
opportunities

• Implement and evaluate 
new portable user devices for 
targeted staff groups.

• Mobile notebook initiative 
implemented to increase 
capacity of Allied Health 
Workforce
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STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES  
Part B: Performance Priorities 2012 / 2013

Financial performance
Key performance indicator Target Actual 

Operating result                                                                                                                             

Annual operating result ($m) -0.982 -0.27

WIES (1) activity performance

Percentage of WIES (public & private) performance to target 100 101.9

Cash management

Creditors < 60 days 20 days

Debtors < 60 days 30 days

Access performance
Key performance indicator Target Actual 

Emergency care 

Percentage of ambulance transfers within 40 minutes 90 90
NEAT - Percentage of emergency presentations to physically leave the emergency 
department for admission to hospital, be referred to another hospital for treatment, or be 
discharged within four hours    (July – December 2012)

70 67

NEAT - Percentage of emergency presentations to physically leave the emergency 
department for admission to hospital, be referred to another hospital for treatment, or be 
discharged within four hours      (January - June 2013)

75 69

Number of patients with a length of stay in the emergency department greater than 24 
hours 0 37

Percentage of Triage Category 1 emergency patients seen immediately 100 100
Percentage of Triage Category 1 to 5 emergency patients seen within clinically 
recommended times 80 69

Elective surgery

Percentage of Urgency Category 1 elective patients treated within 30 days 100 100
NEST - Percentage of Urgency Category 2 elective surgery patients treated within 90 
days (July – December 2012) 75 99

NEST - Percentage of Urgency Category 2 elective surgery patients treated within 90 
days  (January – June 2013) 80 99

NEST - Percentage of Urgency Category 3 elective surgery patients treated within 365 
days  (July – December 2012) 93 87

NEST - Percentage of Urgency Category 3 elective surgery patients treated within 365 
days  (January – June 2013) 94.5 91

Number of patients on the elective surgery waiting list (2) 821 811

Number of Hospital Initiated Postponements (HiPs) per 100 scheduled admissions 8 10

1. WIES is a Weighted Inlier Equivalent Separation.

2. The target shown is the number of patients on the elective surgery waiting list as at 30 June 2013.
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STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES  
Part B: Performance Priorities 2012 / 2013

Service performance
Key performance indicator Target Actual

Elective surgery

Number of patients admitted from the elective surgery waiting list – quarter 1 593 607

Number of patients admitted from the elective surgery waiting list – quarter 2 565 526

Number of patients admitted from the elective surgery waiting list – quarter 3 532 590

Number of patients admitted from the elective surgery waiting list – quarter 4 590 578

Quality and safety

Health service accreditation Full 
compliance

Full 
compliance

Residential aged care accreditation Full 
compliance

Full 
compliance

Cleaning standards Full 
compliance

Full 
compliance

Submission of data to VICNISS (1) Full 
compliance

Full 
compliance

Hand Hygiene(rate) 70 79.3

Victorian Patient Satisfaction Monitor: (OCI) (2) 73 80.2

Consumer Participation Indicator (3) 75 83

People Matter Survey Full 
compliance 41

Maternity
Percentage of women with prearranged postnatal home care 100 100
Mental Health
28 day readmission rate 14 11
Post-discharge follow up rate  75 69
Seclusion rate per occupied bed days < 20/1,000 <17/1,000

1. VICNISS is the Victorian Hospital Acquired Infection Surveillance System.

2. The target for the Victorian Patient Satisfaction Monitor is the Overall Care Index (OCI) which comprises six 
categories

3. The Consumer Participation Indicator is a category of the Victorian Patient Satisfaction Monitor 
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STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES  
Part C: Activity and Funding 2012 / 2013

Funding Type Activity Achievement 
2012-13

Acute AdmittedPost Acute Care

DVAWIES Public 8,901

WIES Private 1,524

WIES Public & Private 10,425

WIES Renal 269

WEIS DVA 326

WIES TAC 88

WIES TOTAL 11,108

Sub acute Admitted

Rehab L2 Public 3,088

Rehab L2 Private 1,067

Rehab L2 DVA 360

GEM Public 1,125

GEM Private 366

GEM DVA 202

Palliatve Care Public 398

Palliative Care Private 138

Palliative Care DVA 13

Palliative Care Other

Restorative Care 1,144

NHT DVA 0

Sub acute non-admitted

SACS 14,107

SACS DVA 484

Post Acute Care 893

Post Acute Care DVA 19

Palliative Care Community 4,605

Palliative Care Unassigned 800

Aged Care

Residential Aged Care 21.484

HACC 8,658

Mental Health and Drug Services

Mental Health Inpatient 5,615

Mental Health Ambulatory 19,553

Primary Health

Community Health / Primary Care Programs 5,772
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OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

2013 
$000 

2012 
$000 

2011 
$000 

2010 
$000 

2009 
$000 

Total Revenue 105,445 105,858 105,126 98,825 94,648
Total Expenses 109,366 109,698 106,611 102,816 96,433
Net Result for the Year (3,921) (3,840) (1,485) (3,991) (1,785)

Equity
Asset Revaluation Reserve 55,914 48,870 48,870 48,870 48,870
Retained Surplus 17,229 20,380 24,220 25,705 29,696
Total Equity 73,143 69,250 73,090 74,575 78,566

Total Assets 97,687 94,999 95,601 94,762 98,290
Total Liabilities 24,544 25,749 22,511 20,187 19,724
Net Assets 73,143 69,250 73,090 74,575 78,566
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COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes
Total  2013 

$000 
Total  2012  

$000 
Revenue from Operating Activities 2  102,567  101,473 
Revenue from Non-operating Activities 2 526 710 
Employee Expenses 3  (66,450)  (69,787)
Non Salary Labour Costs 3  (7,923)  (7,877)
Supplies & Consumables 3  (15,733)  (14,322)
Other Expenses 3  (13,320)  (11,549)
Joint Ventures Accounted for using the Proportionate Method 24 63 (43)
Net Result Before Capital & Specific Items (270)  (1,395)

Capital Purpose Income 2  2,289  3,675 
Depreciation and Amortisation 4  (5,833)  (6,096)
Expenditure using Capital Purpose Income 3 (107) (24)
NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR  (3,921)  (3,840)
Other Comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net result
Changes in physical asset revaulation surplus 17  7,044 - 
Total other comprehensive income  7,044 - 
Comprehensive Result  3,123  (3,840)

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes 
Total  2013 

$000 
Total 2012 

$000 
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 6  1,037 603 
Receivables 7  3,186  3,058 
Investments and other Financial Assets 8  8,340  10,343 
Inventories 9 934  1,024 
Other Assets 10 186 242 
Total Current Assets  13,683  15,270 

Non-Current Assets
Receivables 7 297  2,459 
Property, Plant & Equipment 11  83,661  77,208 
Intangible Assets 12 46 62 
Total Non Current Assets  84,004  79,729 

TOTAL ASSETS  97,687  94,999 

Current Liabilities
Payables 13  6,787  5,386 
Provisions 14  14,841  16,862 
Other Liabilities 16 415 179 
Total Current Liabilities  22,043  22,427 

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 14  2,501  3,322 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  2,501  3,322 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  24,544  25,749 

NET ASSETS  73,143  69,250 

EQUITY
Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus 17a  55,914  48,870 
Contributed Capital 17b  39,072  38,302 
Accumulated Surpluses/(Deficits) 17c  (21,843)  (17,922)

TOTAL EQUITY 17d  73,143  69,250 

Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities 22
Commitments 21

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 June 2013
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Note

Property, 
Plant & 

Equipment 
Revaulation 

Surplus  
$000 

Contributed 
Capital 

 $000 

Accumulated  
Surpluses 

/(Deficits) 
 $000 

Total  
$000 

Balance at 1 July 2011 48,870 38,302  (14,082)  73,090 
Net result for the year  -  -  (3,840)  (3,840)
Balance at 30 June 2012 48,870 38,302  (17,922)  69,250 

Net result for the year  -  -  (3,921)  (3,921)
Administrative Restructure - net liabilities 
transferred

5 & 19  -  770 - 770 

Other comprehensive income for the year  17a 7,044  - -  7,044 
Balance at 30 June 2013 55,914 39,072  (21,843)  73,143 

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2013
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Notes 
 Total 2013 

$000 
 Total 2012  

$000 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating Grants from Government  88,853  85,353 
Patient and Resident Fees Received  4,636  3,755 
Donations and Bequests Received 136 160 
GST Received from/(paid to) ATO  3,150  2,798 
Interest Received 568 656 
Other Receipts  6,486  6,767 
Total Receipts  103,829  99,489 
Employee Expenses Paid (66,289)  (66,974)
Non Salary Labour Costs (7,913)  (7,877)
Payments for Supplies & Consumables (15,733)  (14,322)
Other Payments (12,227)  (10,207)
Total Payments (102,162)  (99,380)
Cash Generated from Operations  1,667 109 

Capital Grants from Government  2,118  2,800 
Capital Donations and Bequests Received 132 869 
Other Capital Receipts  -  - 
NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 18  3,917  3,778 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of Investments  (972)  (1,364)
Payments for Non-Financial Assets (5,585)  (2,943)
Proceeds from sale of Non-Financial Assets 98 135 
Proceeds from sale of Investments  2,976  - 
NET CASH INFLOW/(OUTFLOW) FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,483)  (4,172)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HELD 434 (394)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 603 997 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 6  1,037 603 

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 June 2013
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These annual financial statements represent the 
audited general purpose financial statements for 
Northeast Health  Wangaratta for the period ending 
30 June 2013. The purpose of the report is to provide 
users with information about the health services 
stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements are a general purpose 
financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 
and applicable AASs, which include interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB). They are presented in a manner consistent 
with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements. 

The financial statements also comply with relevant 
Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs) issued by the 
Department of Treasury and Finance, and relevant 
Standing Directions (SDs) authorised by the Minister for 
Finance.

Northeast Health Wangaratta is a not-for-profit entity 
and therefore applies the additional Aus paragraphs 
applicable to “not-for-profit” Health Services under the 
AASs.

The annual financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the board of Northeast Health Wangaratta on 
28/08/2013.

(b) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement

Accounting polices are selected and applied in a 
manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and 
reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 
underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The accounting policies set out below have been 
applied in preparing the financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2013, and the comparative 
information presented in these financial statements for 
the year ended 30 June 2012.

The going concern basis was used to prepare the 
financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, the functional and presentation currency of 
the Health Service.

The financial statements, except for cash flow 
information, have been prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, items 
are recognised as assets, liabilities, equity, income 
or expenses when they satisfy the definitions and 
recognition criteria for those items, that is they are 
recognised in the reporting period to which they 
relate, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the historical cost convention, except for:

• Non-current physical assets, which subsequent to 
acquisition, are measured at a revalued amount 
being their fair value at the date of the revaluation 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent losses. Revaluations are made 
and are reassessed with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially 
differ from their fair values; 

• The fair value of assets other than land is generally 
based on their depreciated replacement value.

Historical cost is based on the fair values of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets.

In the application of AASs, management is required 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on professional judgements derived from historical 
experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 
that period or in the period of the revision, and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. Judgements and assumptions are made by 
management in the application of AASs that have 
significant effects on the financial statements and 
estimates, with a risk of material adjustments in the 
subsequent reporting period, relate to:

• the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, 
plant and equipment (refer to Note 1(j));

• superannuation expense (refer to note 1(g)); and 
• actuarial assumptions for employee benefit 

provisions based on likely tenure of existing staff, 
patterns of leave claims, future salary movements 
and future discount rates (refer to Note 1(k)).

(c) Reporting entity

The financial statements include all the controlled 
activities of Northeast Health Wangaratta. 

Its principal address is: 
Green St 
Wangaratta 
Victoria 3677

A description of the nature of Northeast Health 
Wangaratta’s operations and its principal activities is 
included in the report of operations, which does not 
form part of these financial statements.

NOTE 1 : SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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Objectives and funding
Northeast Health Wangaratta’s overall objective is to 
provide healthcare that enhances the quality of life 
of people in North East Victoria, as well as improve the 
quality of life to Victorians. 

Northeast Health Wangaratta is predominantly funded 
by accrual based grant funding for the provision of 
outputs.

(d) Principles of consolidation

Jointly controlled assets or operations
Interests in jointly controlled assets or operations are 
not consolidated by Northeast Health Wangaratta, 
but are accounted for in accordance with the policy 
outlined in Note 1(j) Assets.

Details of the jointly controlled asset are set out in 
Note 24.

(e) Scope and presentation of financial statements

Fund Accounting
Northeast Health Wangaratta operates on a 
fund accounting basis and maintains three funds: 
Operating, Specific Purpose and Capital Funds. 
Northeast Health Wangaratta’s Capital and Specific 
Purpose Funds include unspent capital donations and 
receipts from fund-raising activities conducted solely 
in respect of these funds.

Services Supported By Health Services Agreement 
and Services Supported By Hospital and Community 
Initiatives
Activities classified as Services Supported by Health 
Services Agreement (HSA) are substantially funded 
by the Department of Health and includes Residential 
Aged Care Services (RACS) and are also funded from 
other sources such as the Commonwealth, patients 
and residents, while Services Supported by Hospital 
and Community Initiatives (H&CI) are funded by the 
Health Service’s own activities or local initiatives and/
or the Commonwealth.

Residential Aged Care Services
The Illoura Residential Aged Care Service operations 
are an integral part of Northeast Health Wangaratta 
and shares its resources. An apportionment of 
land and buildings has been made based on floor 
space. The results of the two operations have been 
segregated based on actual revenue earned and 
expenditure incurred by each operation in Note 2b to 
the financial statements.

The Illoura Residential Aged Care is substantially 
funded from Commonwealth bed-day subsidies.

Comprehensive operating statement
The Comprehensive operating statement includes the 
subtotal entitled ‘Net Result Before Capital & Specific 
Items’ to enhance the understanding of the financial 
performance of Northeast Health Wangaratta. This 
subtotal reports the result excluding items such as 
capital grants, assets received or provided free of 
charge, depreciation, expenditure using capital 
purpose income and items of an unusual nature 
and amount such as specific income and expenses. 
The exclusion of these items is made to enhance 
matching of income and expenses so as to facilitate 

the comparability and consistency of results between 
years and Victorian Public Health Services. The ‘Net 
Result Before Capital & Specific Items’ is used by the 
management of Northeast Health Wangaratta, the 
Department of Health and the Victorian Government 
to measure the ongoing operating performance of 
Health Services.

Capital and specific items, which are excluded from 
this sub-total, comprise:

• Capital purpose income, which comprises all tied 
grants, donations and bequests received for the 
purpose of acquiring non-current assets, such as 
capital works, plant and equipment or intangible 
assets. It also includes donations of plant and 
equipment (refer Note 1 (f)). Consequently the 
recognition of revenue as capital purpose income 
is based on the intention of the provider of the 
revenue at the time the revenue is provided.

• Specific income/expense, comprises the following 
items, where material:

• Non-current asset revaluation increments/
decrements

• Impairment of financial and non-financial assets, 
includes all impairment losses (and reversal of 
previous impairment losses), which have been 
recognised in accordance with Note 1 (j).

• Depreciation and amortisation, as described in 
Note 1 (g).

• Assets provided or received free of charge (refer 
to Note 1 (f) and (g)).

• Expenditure using capital purpose income, 
comprises expenditure which either falls below 
the asset capitalisation threshold or doesn’t meet 
asset recognition criteria and therefore does not 
result in the recognition of an asset in the balance 
sheet, where funding for that expenditure is from 
capital purpose income.

Balance sheet
Assets and liabilities are categorised either as current 
or non-current  (non –current being those assets or 
liabilities expected to be recovered/settled more than 
12 months after reporting period) are disclosed in the 
notes where relevant.

Statement of changes in equity
The statement of changes in equity presents 
reconciliations of each non-owner and owner 
changes in equity from opening balance at the 
beginning of the reporting period to the closing 
balance at the end of the reporting period. It 
also shows separately changes due to amounts 
recognised in the comprehensive result and amounts 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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Cash flow statement
Cash flows are classified according to whether or not 
they arise from operating activities, investing activities, 
or financing activities. This classification is consistent 
with requirements under AASB 107 Statement of Cash 
Flows.

For the cash flow statement presentation purposes, 
cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts, 
which are included as current borrowings in the 
balance sheet.

Rounding 
All amounts shown in the financial statements are 
expressed to the nearest $1,000  unless otherwise 
stated.

Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and sum 
of components are due to rounding.

Comparative Information
Where necessary the previous year’s figures have 
been reclassified to facilitate comparisons.

(f) Income from transactions

Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 
Revenue and is recognised as to the extent that it 
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to 
Northeast Health Wangaratta and the income can 
be reliably measured. Unearned income at reporting 
date is reported as income received in advance

Amounts disclosed as revenue are, where applicable, 
net of returns, allowances and duties and taxes.

Government Grants and other transfers of income 
(other than contributions by owners)
In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, 
government grants and other transfers of income 
(other than contributions by owners) are recognised 
as income when the Health Service gains control 
of the underlying assets irrespective of whether 
conditions are imposed on the Health Service’s use of 
the contributions.

Contributions are deferred as income in advance 
when the health service has a present obligation to 
repay them and the present obligation can be reliably 
measured.

Indirect Contributions from the Department of Health
• Insurance is recognised as revenue following 

advice from the Department of Health.
• Long Service Leave (LSL) – Revenue is recognised 

upon finalisation of movements in LSL liability in line 
with the arrangements set out in the Metropolitan 
Health and Aged Care Services Division Hospital 
Circular 05/2013. 

Patient and Resident Fees
Patient Fees are recognised as revenue at the time 
invoices are raised.

Private Practice Fees
Private practice fees are recognised as revenue at 
the time invoices are raised.

Revenue from commercial activities
Revenue from commercial activities such as 
commercial laboratory medicine is recognised at the 
time invoices are raised.

Donations and Other Bequests
Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue 
when received. If donations are for a special purpose, 
they may be appropriated to a surplus, such as the 
specific restricted purpose surplus.

Dividend Revenue
Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to 
receive payment is established.

Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate 
basis that takes in account the effective yield of the 
financial asset.

Sale of investments
The gain/loss on the sale of investments is recognised 
when the investment is realised.

Fair value or assets and services received free of 
charge or for nominal Consideration
Resources received free of charge or for nominal 
consideration are recognised at their fair value when 
the transferee obtains control over them, irrespective 
of whether restrictions or conditions are imposed over 
the use of the contributions, unless received from 
another Health Service or agency as a consequence 
of a restructuring of administrative arrangements. In 
the latter case, such transfer will be recognised at 
carrying value. Contributions in the form of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would have been 
purchased if not donated.

Other Income 
Other Income includes non-property rental, dividends, 
forgiveness of liabilities, and bad debt reversals.

(g) Expense Recognition

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and 
reported in the financial year to which they relate.

Cost of Goods Sold
Costs of goods sold are recognised when the sale of 
an item occurs by transferring the cost or value of the 
item/s from inventories.

Employee expenses
Employee expenses include:

• Wages and salaries;
• Annual Leave;
• Sick leave;
• Long service leave; and
• Superannuation expenses which are reported 

differently depending upon whether employees 
are members of defined benefit or defined 
contribution plans.
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Defined contribution superannuation plans
In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) 
superannuation plans, the associated expense is 
simply the employer contributions that are paid or 
payable in respect of employees who are members of 
these plans during the reporting period. Contributions 
to defined contribution superannuation plans are 
expensed when incurred.

Defined benefit superannuation plans
The amount charged to the comprehensive 
operating statement in respect of defined benefit 
superannuation plans represents the contributions 
made by the Health Service to the superannuation 
plans in respect of the services of current 
Health Service staff during the reporting period. 
Superannuation contributions are made to the plans 
based on the relevant rules of each plan, and are 
based upon actuarial advice.

The name and details of the major employee 
superannuation funds and contributions made by 
Northeast Health Wangaratta are disclosed in Note 
15: Superannuation.

Depreciation 
All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and 
equipment and other non-financial physical assets 
that have finite useful lives are depreciated (ie: 
excludes land assets held for sale, and investment 
properties). Depreciation begins when the asset is 
available for use, which is when it is in the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 
in a manner intended by management.

Intangible produced assets with finite lives are 
depreciated as an expense from transactions 
on a systematic basis over the asset’s useful life. 
Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-
line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset value, 
less any estimated residual value over its estimated 
useful life.  Estimates of the remaining useful lives 
and depreciation method for all assets are reviewed 
at least annually, and adjustments made where 
appropriate. This depreciation charge is not funded 
by the Department of Health. Assets with a cost in 
excess of $1,000 are capitalised and depreciation 
has been provided on depreciable assets so as to 
allocate their cost of valuation over their estimated 
useful lives.

The following table indicates the expected useful 
lives of non current assets on which the depreciation 
charges are based.

Please note: the estimated useful lives, residual values 
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each annual reporting period, and adjustments made 
where appropriate. As part of the buildings valuation, 
building values were separated into components and 
each component assessed for its useful life which is 
represented above.

Intangible produced assets with finite lives are 
depreciated as an expense from transactions on a 
systematic basis over the asset’s useful life.

  2013  2012

Buildings

- Structure Shell Building Fabric  20 to 40 years 20 to 40 years

- Site Engineering services and    
  Central Plant 12 to 35 years 12 to 35 years

- Fit Out 2 to 19 years 2 to 19 years

- Trunk Reticulated Building  
  Systems 2 to 19 years 2 to 19 years

Plant & Equipment  5 to 20 years 5 to 20 years

Medical Equipment 4 to 15 years 4 to 15 years

Computers & Communications 3 to 5 years 3 to 5 years

Furniture & Fittings 6 to 20 years  6 to 20 years

Motor Vehicles 4 years 4 years

Leased Assets 2 to 4 years  2 to 4 years

Intangible Assets 3 to 5 years 3 to 5 years
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Amortisation
Amortisation is allocated to intangible non- produced 
assets with finite useful lives on systematic (typically 
straight-line) basis over the asset’s useful life. 
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for 
use, that is, when it is in the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. The consumption 
of intangible non produced assets with finite useful 
lives is classified as amortisation. 

The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful 
life are reviewed at least at the end of each annual 
reporting period. In addition, an assessment is made 
at each reporting date to determine whether there 
are indicators that the intangible asset concerned 
is impaired. If so, the assets concerned are tested 
as to whether their carrying value exceeds their 
recoverable amount.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not 
amortised, but are tested for impairment annually 
or whenever there is an indication that the asset 
may be impaired. The useful lives of intangible 
assets that are not being amortised are reviewed 
each period to determine whether events and 
circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful 
life assessment for that asset. In addition, Northeast 
Health Wangaratta tests all intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives for impairment by comparing the 
recoverable amount for each asset with its carrying 
amount:

• annually; and
• whenever there is an indication that the intangible 

asset may be impaired.
Any excess of the carrying amount over the 
recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment 
loss.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised 
over a 3-5 year period (2012: 3-5 years).

Finance Costs
Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the 
period in which they are incurred.

Finance costs include:

- interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-
term borrowings (Interest expense is recognised In the           
period in which it is incurred):

- amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to 
borrowings;

- amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection 
with the arrangement of borrowings; and

- finance charges in respect of finance leases 
recognised in accordance with AASB 117 Leases.

Grants and other transfers 
Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than 
contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense 
in the reporting period in which they are paid or 
payable. They include transactions such as  grants, 
subsidies and personal benefit payments made in 
cash to individuals.

Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses generally represent 
the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal 
operations and include:

Supplies and consumables 
Supplies and services costs which are recognised 
as an expense in the reporting period in which 
they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any 
inventories held for distribution are expensed 
when distributed.

Bad and Doubtful debts
Refer to Note 1 (j) Impairment of financial assets.

Fair value of assets, services and resources provided 
free of charge or for nominal consideration
Contributions of resources provided free of charge 
or for nominal consideration are recognised at their 
fair value when the transferee obtains control over 
them, irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions 
are imposed over the use of the contributions, unless 
received from another agency as a consequence 
of a restructuring of administrative arrangements. In 
the latter case, such a transfer will be recognised at 
carrying value. Contributions in the form of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would have been 
purchased if not donated.

(h) Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income measures the change 
in volume or value of assets or liabilities that do not 
result from transactions.

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities 
includes realised and unrealised gains and losses as 
follows:

Revaluation gains/(losses) of non-financial physical 
assets
Refer to Note 1(j) Revaluations of non-financial 
assets.

Disposal of non-financial assets
Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial 
assets is recognised at the date of disposal and is 
determined after deducting from the proceeds the 
carrying value of the asset at that time.

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments
Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes:

• realised and unrealised gains and losses from 
revaluations of financial instruments at fair 
value;

• impairment and reversal of impairment for 
financial instruments at amortised cost (refer 
to Note 1 (j)); and

• disposals of financial assets and derecognition 
of financial liabilities

Share of net profits/(losses) of associates and joint 
entities, excluding dividends.
Refer to Note 1 (d) Principles of consolidation.
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Other gains/(losses) from other comprehensive 
income
Other gains/(losses) include:

• the revaluation of the present value of the 
long service leave liability due to changes in 
the bond interest rates; and

• transfer of amounts from the reserves to 
accumulated surplus or net result due to 
disposal or derecognition or reclassification.

(i) Financial instruments

Financial instruments arise out of contractual 
agreements that give rise to a financial asset of 
one Health Service and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another Health Service. Due to the 
nature of Northeast Health Wangaratta’s activities, 
certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise 
under statute rather than a contract. Such financial 
assets and financial liabilities do not meet the 
definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation. For example, statutory 
receivables arising from taxes, fines and penalties do 
not meet the definition of financial instruments as they 
do not arise under contract.

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a 
distinction is made between those financial assets and 
financial liabilities that meet the definition of financial 
instruments in accordance with AASB 132 and those 
that do not.

The following refers to financial instruments unless 
otherwise stated.

Categories of non-derivative financial instruments

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets 
with fixed and determinable payments that are not 
quoted on an active market. These assets are initially 
recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, 
loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes cash and 
deposits (refer to Note 1(i)), term deposits with maturity 
greater than three months, trade receivables, loans 
and other receivables, but not statutory receivables.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised 
on the date they are originated. They are initially 
measured at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
these financial instruments are measured at 
amortised cost with any difference between the initial 
recognised amount and the redemption value being 
recognised in profit and loss over the period of the 
interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest 
rate method.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised 
cost include all of the Health Service’s contractual 
payables, deposits held and advances received, 
and interest-bearing arrangements other than those 
designated at fair value through profit or loss.

(j) Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and cash at bank, deposits at call and highly liquid 
investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less, which are held for the purpose of meeting short 
term cash commitments rather than for investment 
purposes, which are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

Receivables 
Receivables consist of:

• Contractual receivables, which includes mainly 
debtors in relation to goods and services, loans 
to third parties, accrued investment income, and 
finance lease receivables; and

• Statutory receivables, which includes 
predominately amounts owing from the Victorian 
Government and Goods and Services Tax (“ GST”)  
input tax credits recoverable.

Receivables that are contractual are classified as 
financial instruments and categorised as loans and 
receivables. Statutory receivables are recognised 
and measured similarly to contractual receivables 
(except for impairment), but are not classified as 
financial instruments because they do not arise from a 
contract.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method, less any accumulated 
impairment.

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due 
and are due for settlement within 30 days from the 
date of recognition. Collectability of debts is reviewed 
on an ongoing basis, and debts which are known 
to be uncollectable are written off. A provision for 
doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective 
evidence that the debts may not be collected and 
bad debts are written off when identified.

Investments and Other Financial Assets
Investments are recognised and derecognised on 
trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is 
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the 
investment within the timeframe established by the 
market concerned, and are initially measured at fair 
value, net of transaction costs.

Investments are classified in the following categories:

• Loans and receivables.
Northeast Health Wangaratta classifies its other 
financial assets between current and non-current 
assets based on the purpose for which the assets were 
acquired. Management determines the classification 
of its other financial assets at initial recognition.

Northeast Health Wangaratta assesses at each 
balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired.

All financial assets, except those measured at fair 
value through profit or loss are subject to annual 
review for impairment.
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Inventories 
Inventories include goods and other property held 
either for sale, consumption or for distribution at no 
or nominal cost in the ordinary course of business 
operations. It includes land held for sale and excludes 
depreciable assets.

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, 
adjusted for any loss of service potential. All other 
inventories, including land held for sale, are measured 
at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The bases used in assessing loss of service potential 
for inventories held for distribution include current 
replacement cost and technical or functional 
obsolescence. Technical obsolescence occurs when 
an item still functions for some or all of the tasks it 
was originally acquired to do, but no longer matches 
existing technologies. Functional obsolescence occurs 
when an item no longer functions the way it did when 
it was first acquired.

Cost for all other inventory is measured on the basis of 
weighted average cost. 

Property, Plant and Equipment
All non-current physical assets are measured initially 
at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, 
the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. 
Assets transferred as part of a merger/machinery of 
government are transferred at their carrying amount.

Crown Land is measured at fair value with 
regard to the property’s highest and best use 
after due consideration is made for any legal or 
constructive restrictions imposed on the asset, 
public announcements or commitments made in 
relation to the intended use of the assets. Theoretical 
opportunities that may be available in relation to the 
asset(s) are not taken into account until it is virtually 
certain that any restrictions will no longer apply.

Land and Buildings are recognised initially at cost and 
subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment.

Plant, Equipment and Vehicles are recognised initially 
at cost and subsequently measured at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Depreciated historical cost is generally a reasonable 
proxy for fair value because of the short lives of assets 
concerned.

Revaluations of Non-current Physical Assets
Non-current physical assets are measured at fair 
value and are revalued in accordance with FRD 103D 
Non-current physical assets. This revaluation process 
normally occurs at least every five years, based upon 
the asset’s Government Purpose Classification, but 
may occur more frequently if fair value assessments 
indicate material changes in values. Independent 
valuers are used to conduct these scheduled 
revaluations and any interim revaluations are 
determined in accordance with the requirements of 
the FRDs. Revaluation increments or decrements arise 
from differences between an asset’s carrying value 
and fair value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘other 
comprehensive income’ and are credited directly 
to the asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the 
extent that an increment reverses a revaluation 
decrement in respect of that same class of asset 
previously recognised as an expense in net result, the 
increment is recognised as income in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘other 
comprehensive income’ to the extent that a credit 
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in 
respect of the same class of property plant and 
equipment.

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases 
relating to individual assets within an asset class are 
offset against one another within that class but are not 
offset in respect of assets in different classes.

Revaluation surplus are normally not transferred to 
accumulated funds on derecognition of the relevant 
asset.

In accordance with FRD 103D, Northeast Health 
Wangaratta’s non-current physical assets were 
assessed to determine whether revaluation of the non-
current physical assets was required.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets represent identifiable non-
monetary assets without physical substance such as 
patents, trademarks, and computer software and 
development costs (where applicable).

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 
Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives 
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Costs incurred 
subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when 
it is expected that additional future economic benefits 
will flow to the Health Service.

Prepayments
Other non-financial assets include prepayments which 
represent payments in advance of receipt of goods 
or services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond 
that period.

Disposal of Non-Financial Assets
Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets 
is recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement. Refer to note 1(h) –‘other comprehensive 
income’. 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives (and intangible assets not yet available for use) 
are tested annually for impairment (as described 
below) and whenever there is an indication that the 
asset may be impaired.

All other non-financial assets are assessed annually for 
indications of impairment, except for: 

• Inventories.
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If there is an indication of impairment, the assets 
concerned are tested as to whether their carrying 
value exceeds their possible recoverable amount. 
Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the difference is written-off as an 
expense except to the extent that the write-down can 
be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount 
applicable to that same class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a change 
in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised, the 
carrying amount shall be increased to its recoverable 
amount. This reversal of the impairment loss occurs 
only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation of 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised in prior years.

It is deemed that, in the event of a loss or destruction 
of an asset, the future economic benefits arising 
from the use of the asset will be replaced unless a 
specific decision to the contrary has been made. 
The recoverable amount for most assets is measured 
at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and 
fair value less costs to sell. Recoverable amount for 
assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is 
measured at the higher of the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset 
and fair value less costs to sell.  

Investments in Jointly Controlled Assets and 
Operations
In respect of any interest in jointly controlled assets, 
Northeast Health Wangaratta recognises in the 
financial statements:

• its share of jointly controlled assets;
• any liabilities that it had incurred;
• its share of liabilities incurred jointly by the joint 

venture;
• any income earned from the selling or using of its 

share of the output from the joint venture; and
• any expenses incurred in relation to being an 

investor in the joint venture.
For jointly controlled operations Northeast Health 
Wangaratta recognises:

• the assets that it controls;
• the liabilities that it incurs;
• expenses that it incurs; and
• the share of income that it earns from selling 

outputs of the joint venture.

Derecognition of Financial Assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 
financial asset or part of a group of similar financials 
assets) is derecognised when:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
have expired; or

• The Health Service retains the right to receive 
cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an 
obligation to pay them in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ 
arrangement; or

• The Health Service has transferred its rights to 
receive cash flows from the asset and either:

• has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset; or

• has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Health Service has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 
or transferred control, the asset is recognised to the 
extent of the Health Service’s continuing involvement 
in the asset.

Impairment of Financial Assets
At the end of each reporting period Northeast 
Health Wangaratta assess whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
asset is impaired. All financial instruments assets, 
except those measured at fair value through profit or 
loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.

Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts 
on a regular basis. Bad debts considered as written 
off and allowances for doubtful receivables are 
expensed. Bad debt written off by mutual consent 
and the allowance for doubtful debts are classified as 
other comprehensive income’ in the net result.

The amount of the allowance is the difference 
between the financial asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the effective interest rate.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) 
financial assets, which are not financial instruments, 
professional judgement is applied in assessing 
materiality using estimates, averages and other 
computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 
Impairment of Assets.

Net Gain / (Loss) on Financial Instruments
Net gain / (loss) on financial instruments includes:

• realised and unrealised gains and losses from 
revaluations of financial instruments that are 
designated at fair value through profit or loss or 
held-for-trading;

•  impairment and reversal of impairment for 
financial instruments at amortised cost;

• disposals of financial assets.
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Revaluations of Financial Instruments at Fair Value
The revaluation gain / (loss) on financial instruments 
at fair value excludes dividends or interest earned on 
financial assets.

(k) Liabilities 

Payables
Payables consist of:

• Contractual payables which consist predominantly 
of accounts payable representing liabilities 
for goods and services provided to the health 
service prior to the end of the financial year that 
are unpaid, and arise when the health service 
becomes obliged to make future payments in 
respect of the purchase of those goods and 
services. The normal credit terms for accounts 
payable are usually Nett 30 days.

• Statutory payables, such as goods and services tax 
and fringe benefits tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial 
instruments and are initially recognised at fair value, 
and then subsequently carried at amortised cost. 
Statutory payables are recognised and measured 
similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified 
as financial instruments and not included in the 
category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, 
because they do not arise from a contract.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Health Service has 
a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic 
benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision 
can be measured reliably. 

The amount recognised as a liability is the best 
estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at reporting date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the 
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash 
flows, using a discount rate that reflects the time value 
of money and risks specific to the provision.

When some or all of the economic benefits required 
to settle a provision are expected to be received from 
a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset 
if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably.

Employee Benefits
This Provision arises for benefits accruing to employees 
in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave 
and long service leave for services rendered to the 
reporting date.

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave, Sick Leave and 
Accrued Days Off
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits, annual leave, accumulating sick 
leave and accrued days off which are expected to 
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in the provision for employee benefits in 
respect of employee’s services up to the reporting 
date, and are classified as current liabilities and 
measured at their nominal values. 

Those liabilities that are not expected to be settled 
within 12 months are also recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits as current liabilities, but are 
measured at present value of the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement. 

Long Service Leave
The liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in 
the provision for employee benefits.

Current Liability – Unconditional LSL (representing 10 
or more years of continuous service) is disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements as a current liability 
even where Northeast Health Wangaratta does not 
expect to settle the liability within 12 months because 
it will not have the unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the entitlement should an employee 
take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current LSL liability are 
measured at:

• present value – component that Northeast Health 
Wangaratta does not expect to settle within 12 
months; and

• nominal value – component that Northeast 
Health Wangaratta expects to settle within 12 
months. 

Non-Current Liability – conditional LSL (representing 
less than 10 years of continuous service) is disclosed 
as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the entitlement until 
the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service. Conditional LSL is required to be measured at 
present value.

Consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments 
are discounted using interest rates of Commonwealth 
Government guaranteed securities in Australia.

On-Costs
Employee benefit on-costs such as payroll tax, workers 
compensation and superannuation are recognised 
together with provision for employee benefits.

Superannuation Liabilities
Northeast Health Wangaratta does not recognise 
any unfunded defined benefit liability in respect of 
the superannuation plans because the Health Service 
has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future 
benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is 
to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. 
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Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled 
or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised as an expense in the estimated 
consolidated comprehensive operating statement.

(l) Leases

A Lease is a right to use an asset for an agreed period 
of time in exchange for payment. Leases are classified 
at their inception as either operating or finance leases 
based on the economic substance of the agreement 
so as to reflect the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. 

Leases of property, plant and equipment are classified 
as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified 
as operating leases. 

Operating Leases

Entity as Lessee
Operating lease payments, including any contingent 
rentals, are recognised as an expense in the 
comprehensive operating statement on a straight 
line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the 
leased asset. The leased asset is not recognised in the 
balance sheet.

Leasehold Improvements
The cost of leasehold improvements are capitalised 
as an asset and depreciated over the remaining 
term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the 
improvements, whichever is the shorter.

(m) Equity

Contributed Capital
Consistent with Australian Accounting Interpretation 
1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned 
Public Sector Entities and FRD 119 Contributions by 
Owners, appropriations for additions to the net asset 
base have been designated as contributed capital. 
Other transfers that are in the nature of contributions 
or distributions that have been designated as 
contributed capital are also treated as contributed 
capital.

Transfers of net assets and liabilities arising from 
administrative restructurings are treated as 
contributed capital.

Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation of 
non-current physical assets.

(n) Commitments

Commitments for future expenditure include 
operating and capital commitments arising from 
contracts. These commitments are disclosed by way 
of a note (refer to note 21) at their nominal value 
and are inclusive of the goods and services tax 
(“GST”) payable. In addition, where it is considered 
appropriate and provides additional relevant 
information to users, the net present values of 
significant individual projects are stated. These future 
expenditures cease to be disclosed as commitments 
once the related liabilities are recognised on the 
balance sheet.

(o) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed 
by way of note and, if quantifiable, are measured 
at nominal value. Contingent assets and contingent 
liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or 
payable respectively.

(p) Goods and Services Tax (“GST”)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of 
the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this 
case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of 
the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included with other receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to the taxation authority, are presented as an 
operating cash flow.

Commitments for expenditure and contingent assets 
and liabilities are presented on a gross basis.

(q) AASs Issued that are not yet effective

Certain new Australian accounting standards and 
interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for 30 June 2013 reporting period. DTF 
assesses the impact of all these new standards and 
advises the Health Service of their applicability and 
early adoption where applicable.

As at 30 June 2013, the following standards and 
interpretations had been issued by the AASB but 
were not yet effective. They become effective for 
the first financial statements for reporting periods 
commencing after the stated operative dates 
as detailed in the table below. Northeast Health 
Wangaratta has not and does not intend to adopt 
these standards early.
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Standard/
Interpretation Summary

Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on 

Impact on Hospital’s Annual 
Statements

AASB 9 Financial 
instruments

This standard simplifies requirements 
for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets 
resulting from Phase 1 of the IASB’s 
project to replace IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement (AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement).

1 Jan 2015 Subject to AASB’s further 
modifications to AASB 9, together 
with the anticipated changes 
resulting from the staged projects 
on impairments and hedge 
accounting, details of impacts will 
be assessed. 

AASB 11 Joint 
Arrangements

This Standard deals with the 
concept of joint control, and 
sets out a new principles-based 
approach for determining the type 
of joint arrangement that exists 
and the corresponding accounting  
treatment. The new categories of 
joint arrangements under AASB 11 
are more aligned to the actual rights 
and obligations of the parties to the 
arrangement. 

1 Jan 2014 Not-for-profit entities are not 
permitted to apply this standard 
prior to the mandatory application 
date. 

AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement

This Standard outlines the 
requirements for measuring the 
fair value of assets and liabilities 
and replaces the existing fair value 
definition and guidance in other 
AASs. AASB 13 includes a ‘fair value 
hierarchy’ which ranks the valuation 
technique inputs into three levels 
using unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or 
liabilites; other observable inputs; and 
unobservable inputs.

1 Jan 2013 Disclosure for fair value 
measurements using unobservable 
inputs are relatively onerous 
compared to disclosure for 
fair value measurements using 
observable inputs. Consequently, 
the standard may increase the 
disclosures for public sector entities 
that have assets measured using 
depreciated replacement cost.

AASB 119 
Employee Benefits

In this revised Standard for defined 
benefit superannuation plans, there 
is a change to the methodology in 
the calculation of superannuation 
expenses, in particular there is now 
a change in the split between 
superannuation interest expense 
(classified as transactions) and 
actuarial gains and losses (classified 
as ‘Other economic flows – other 
movements in equity’) reported 
on the comprehensive operating 
statement.

1 Jan 2013 Not-for-profit entities are not 
permitted to apply this Standard 
prior to the mandatory application 
date.

While the total superannuation 
expense is unchanged, the revised 
methodology is expected to have 
a negative impact on the net 
result from transactions of a few 
Victorian public sector entities that 
report superannuation defined 
benefit plans.

AASB 128 
Investments in 
Associates and 
Joint Ventures

This revised Standard sets out the 
requirements for the application of 
the equity method when accounting 
for investments in associates and joint 
ventures

1 Jan 2014 Not-for-profit entities are not 
permitted to apply this Standard 
prior to the mandatory application 
date. The AASB is assessing the 
applicability of principles in AASB 
128 in a not-for-profit context.

As such, impact will be assessed 
after the AASB’s deliberation.
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Standard/
Interpretation Summary

Applicable for 
annual reporting 
periods beginning 
on 

Impact on Hospital’s Annual 
Statements

AASB 1053 
Application of 
Tiers of Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

This Standard establishes a differential 
financial reporting framework 
consisting of two tiers of reporting 
requirements for preparing general 
purpose financial statements.

1 July 2013 The Victorian Government 
is currently considering the 
impacts of Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements (RDRs) for certain 
public sector entities and has 
not decided if RDRs will be 
implemented to the Victorian 
Public Sector.

AASB 1055 
Budgetary 
Reporting

AASB 1055 extends the scope 
of budgetary reporting that is 
currently applicable for the whole of 
government and general government 
sector (GGS) to NFP entities within 
the GGS, provided that these entities 
present separate budgets  to the 
parliament

1 January 2014 [If separate budget is presented to 
the parliament]: 

The entity will be required to 
restate in the financial statements 
the budgetary information in 
accordance with the presentation 
format prescribed in Australian 
Accounting Standards and explain 
the significant variances from the 
original budget. 

[If separate budget is not 
presented to the parliament]: 

This Standard is not applicable as 
no budget disclosure is required.
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(r) Category groups

Northeast Health Wangaratta has used the following 
category groups for reporting purposes for the current 
and previous financial years.

Admitted Patient Services (Admitted Patients) 
comprises all recurrent health revenue / expenditure 
on admitted patient services, where services are 
delivered in public hospitals, or free standing day 
hospital facilities, or alcohol and drug treatment units 
or hospitals specialising in dental services, hearing and 
ophthalmic aids.

Mental Health Services (Mental Health) comprises all 
recurrent health revenue / expenditure on specialised 
Mental Health Services (child and adolescent, general 
and adult, community and forensic) managed or 
funded by the state or territory health administrations, 
and includes: Admitted patient services (including 
forensic mental health), outpatient services, 
emergency department services (where it is possible 
to separate emergency department mental health 
services),  community –based services, residential and 
ambulatory services. 

Outpatient Services (Outpatients) comprises all 
recurrent health revenue / expenditure on public 
hospital type outpatient services, where services 
are delivered in public hospital outpatient clinics, or 
free standing day hospital facilities or rehabilitation 
facilities, or alcohol and drug treatment units, or 
outpatient clinics specialising in ophthalmic aids or 
palliative care. 

Emergency Department Services (EDS) comprises all 
recurrent health revenue / expenditure on emergency 
department services that are available free of charge 
to public patients.

Aged Care comprises revenue / expenditure from 
Home & Community Care (HACC) programs, Allied 
Health, Aged Care Assessment and support services.

Primary Health comprises revenue / expenditure 
for Community Health Services including health 
promotion and counselling, physiotherapy, speech 
therapy, podiatry and occupational therapy.

Off Campus, Ambulatory Services (Ambulatory) 
comprises all recurrent health revenue / expenditure 
on public hospital type services including palliative 
care facilities and rehabilitation facilities, as well as 
services provided under the following agreements: 
Services that are provided or received by hospitals 
(or area health services) but are delivered / received 
outside a hospital campus, services which have 
moved from a hospital to a community setting since 
June 1998, services which fall within the agreed scope 
of inclusions under the new system, which have been 
delivered within hospital’s i.e. in rural/remote areas.

Residential Aged Care including Mental Health 
(RAC incl. Mental Health) referred to in the past as 
psychogeriatric residential services, comprises those 
Commonwealth-licensed residential aged care 
services in receipt of supplementary funding from DH 
under the mental health program. It excludes all other 
residential services funded under the mental health 
program, such as mental health funded community 
care units (CCUs) and secure extended care units 
(SECs).

Other Services excluded from Australian Health 
Care Agreement (AHCA) (Other) comprises revenue 
/ expenditure for services not separately classified 
above, including: Public health services including 
Laboratory testing, Blood Borne Viruses / Sexually 
Transmitted Infections clinical services, Kooris liaison 
officers, immunisation and screening services, Drugs 
services including drug withdrawal, counselling and 
the needle and syringe program, Dental Health 
Services including general and specialist dental 
care, school dental services and clinical education, 
Disability services including aids and equipment 
and flexible support packages to people with a 
disability, Community Care programs including sexual 
assault support, early parenting services, parenting 
assessment and skills development, and various 
support services. Health and Community Initiatives also 
falls in this category group.

(s) Going Concern

The financial statements are prepared on a going 
concern basis. Northeast Health Wangaratta has:

• a deficit from ordinary activities of $3.921 million for 
the year ended 30 June 2013 ($3.840 million for the 
year ended 30 June 2012);

• a working capital deficiency of $8.360 million as at 
30 June 2013 ($7.157 million as at 30 June 2012).

The Department of Health (DH) has confirmed that it 
will continue to provide Northeast Health Wangaratta 
(NHW) adequate cash flow support to enable NHW to 
meet its current and future obligations as and when 
they fall due for a period up to September 2014 should 
this be required.

DH support is based upon NHW continuing to commit 
to achieve the agreed budget targets, and all other 
requirements of the Health Service Agreement in 2013-
14. NHW will also submit a Financial Improvement Plan 
that outlines strategies to support achieving a break-
even result.
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Note 2: Revenue
HSA 2013  

$000 
HSA 2012  

$000 
H&CI 2013  

$000 
H&CI 2012  

$000 
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012 

$000 
Revenue from Operating Activities
Government Grants
- Department of Health 38,393 78,899 - - 38,393 78,899
- Victorian Health Funding Pool (*) 40,096 - - - 40,096 -
- Department of Human Services 23 23 - - 23 23
- Dental Health Services Victoria 2,220 2,102 - - 2,220 2,102
- State Government - Other
      -  Equipment and Infrastructure  
         Maintenance

- 353 - - - 353

- Commonwealth Government
     - Residential Aged Care Subsidy 3,842 3,757 - - 3,842 3,757
     - Other 1,828 1,530 2,222 2,073 4,050 3,603
Total Government Grants 86,402 86,664 2,222 2,073 88,624 88,737

Indirect contributions by Department 
of Health *
- Insurance 131 151 - - 131 151
- Long Service Leave (228) 1,176 - - (228) 1,176
Total Indirect Contributions by 
Department of Health (97) 1,327 - - (97) 1,327

Patient and Resident Fees  
- Patient and Resident Fees  
  (refer note 2b)

3,468 2,511 27 22 3,495 2,533

- Residential Aged Care  
  (refer note 2b)

1,343 1,240 - - 1,343 1,240

Total Patient & Resident Fees 4,811 3,751 27 22 4,838 3,773

Business Units 
- Diagnostic Imaging 4,655 3,616 - - 4,655 3,616

Commercial Activities & Specific 
Purpose Funds
- Private Practice and Other Patient  
   Activities Fees

- - 352 670 352 670

- Coffee Shop - - 676 606 676 606
- Property Income 283 213 - - 283 213
Total Commercial Activities & 
Specific Purpose Funds 4,938 3,829 1,028 1,276 5,966 5,105
Donations & Bequests - 2 136 160 136 162
Other Revenue from Operating 
Activities

2,772 2,080 328 289 3,100 2,369

Total Revenue from Operating 
Activities 98,826 97,653 3,741 3,820 102,567 101,473

Revenue from Non-Operating 
Activities
Interest 516 695 10 15 526 710
Total Revenue from Non-Operating 
Activities 516 695 10 15 526 710
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HSA 2013  
$000 

HSA 2012  
$000 

H&CI 2013  
$000 

H&CI 2012  
$000 

Total 2013  
$000 

Total 2012 
$000 

Capital Purpose Income
State Government Capital Grants
- Targeted Capital Works and   
   Equipment

2,118 2,800 - - 2,118 2,800

Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Non-
Financial Assets (refer note 2c)

- - 39 6 39 6

Donations and Bequests - - 132 869 132 869
Total Capital Purpose Income 2,118 2,800 171 875 2,289 3,675

Share of Net Result of Joint Venture 
Accounted
for using the Proportionate Method 
(refer note 24)

63 (43) - - 63 (43)

Total Revenue  (refer to note 2a) 101,523 101,105 3,922 4,710 105,445 105,815

(*) The Victorian Health Funding Pool line is for reporting activity based funding payments received via the National 
Health Funding Administrator.

* Indirect contributions by Department of Health: Department of Health makes certain payments on behalf of the 
Health Service.
These amounts have been brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them 
as revenue and expenses. 

Note 2a: Analysis of Revenue by Source

 

Admitted 
Patients 

2013 
 $000 

Out- 
patients 

2013 
$000 

EDS 
2013 
$000 

Ambulatory 
2013 

 $000 

Mental 
Health 

2013  
$000 

RAC 
2013  
$000 

Aged 
Care 
2013 
$000 

Primary 
Health 

2013 
$000 

Other 
2013 
$000 

Total 
2013 
$000 

Revenue from Services Supported by Health Services Agreement
Government grants 52,743 4,610 6,382 8,924 4,585 5,368 826 721 2,243 86,402
Indirect contributions by 
Department of Health *

(97) - - - - - - - - (97)

Patient and Resident Fees  
(refer note 2b)

2,021 - 102 738 135 1,343 246 101 125 4,811

Business Unit - Diagnostic 
Imaging

- - - - - - - - 4,655 4,655

Other Revenue from 
Operating Activities

1,766 3 146 46 1,066 - - 17 11 3,055

Interest & Dividends 516 - - - - - - - - 516
Capital Purpose Income  
(refer note 2)

1,734 - - - - 33 51 - 300 2,118

Share of Net Result of Joint 
Venture Accounted for 
using the Proportionate 
Method (refer note 24)

63 - - - - - - - - 63

Total Revenue from Services 
Supported by Health 
Services Agreement 58,746 4,613 6,630 9,708 5,786 6,744 1,123 839 7,334 101,523
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Admitted 
Patients 

2013 
 $000 

Out- 
patients 

2013 
$000 

EDS 
2013 
$000 

Ambulatory 
2013 

 $000 

Mental 
Health 

2013  
$000 

RAC 
2013  
$000 

Aged 
Care 
2013 
$000 

Primary 
Health 

2013 
$000 

Other 
2013 
$000 

Total 
2013 
$000 

Revenue from Services Supported by Hospital and Community Initiatives
Donations and Bequests  
(non capital) - - - - - - - - 136 136
Commercial Activities &  
Specific Purpose Funds - - - - - - - - 1,028 1,028
Other - - - - - - - - 2,587 2,587

Capital Purpose Income  
(refer note 2) - - - - - - - - 171 171
 
Total Revenue from Services 
Supported by Hospital and 
Community Initiatives - - - - - - - - 3,922 3,922

Total Revenue 58,746 4,613 6,630 9,708 5,786 6,744 1,123 839 11,256 105,445
* Indirect contributions by Department of Health: Department of Health makes certain payments on behalf of the 
Health Service (Insurance & LSL).

These amounts have been brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them 
as revenue and expenses. 

 

Admitted 
Patients 

2012 
 $000 

Out- 
patients 

2012 
$000 

EDS 
2012 
$000 

Ambulatory 
2012  
$000 

Mental 
Health 

2012  
$000 

RAC 
2012 
$000 

Aged 
Care 
2012 
$000 

Primary 
Health 

2012 
$000 

Other 
2012 
$000 

Total 
2012 
$000 

Revenue from Services Supported by Health Services Agreement
Government grants 48,849 4,222 6,222 8,325 10,087 5,309 831 694 2,125 86,664

Indirect contributions by 
Department of Health * 1,327 - - - - - - - - 1,327
Patient and Resident Fees  
(refer note 2b) 1,422 - 53 401 109 1,240 274 135 117 3,751
Donations and Bequests  
(non capital) - - - 2 - - - - - 2

Business Unit - 
Diagnostic Imaging - - - - - - - - 3,616 3,616

Other Revenue from  
Operating Activities 1,488 - 6 38 710 - - 6 45 2,293
Interest & Dividends 695 - - - - - - - - 695

Capital Purpose Income  
(refer note 2) 2,123 - - - 5 - 22 - 650 2,800

Share of Net Result of Joint 
Venture Accounted for 
using the Proportionate 
Method (refer note 24) (43) - - - - - - - - (43)

Total Revenue from Services 
Supported by Health 
Services Agreement 55,861 4,222 6,281 8,766 10,911 6,549 1,127 835 6,553 101,105
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Admitted 
Patients 

2012 
 $000 

Out- 
patients 

2012 
$000 

EDS 
2012 
$000 

Ambulatory 
2012  
$000 

Mental 
Health 

2012  
$000 

RAC 
2012 
$000 

Aged 
Care 
2012 
$000 

Primary 
Health 

2012 
$000 

Other 
2012 
$000 

Total 
2012 
$000 

Revenue from Services Supported by Hospital  and Community Initiatives

Donations and Bequests  
(non capital) - - - - - - - - 160 160

Commercial Activities & 
Specific Purpose Funds - - - - - - - - 1,276 1,276
Other - - - - - - - - 2,399 2,399
Capital Purpose Income  
(refer note 2) - - - - - - - - 875 875
 
Total Revenue from Services 
Supported by Hospital and 
Community Initiatives

- - - - - - - - 4,710 4,710

Total Revenue 55,861 4,222 6,281 8,766 10,911 6,549 1,127 835 11,263 105,815

* Indirect contributions by Department of Health: Department of Health makes certain payments on behalf of the 
Health Service (Insurance & LSL).

These amounts have been brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them 
as revenue and expenses. 

Note 2b: Patient and Resident Fees Raised
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 
Patient and Resident Fees
H.SA
Acute (inc rehabilitation, GEM and other acute care types)
- Inpatients 2,021 1,422
- Emergency Department 102 53
- Ambulatory 738 401
Residential Aged Care
- Residential Accommodation Payments * 1,343 1,240
Mental Health 135 109
Other 472 526

4,811 3,751
H&CI
Other 27 22
Total Patient and Resident Fees 4,838 3,773

*This includes accommodation charges, interest earned on accommodation bonds and retention amount.
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Total 2013  
$000 

Total 2012  
$000 

Proceeds from Disposals of Non-Current Assets
    Plant & Equipment - 15
    Medical Equipment - 14
    Motor Vehicles 98 106
Total Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current Assets 98 135

Less: Written Down Value of Non-Current Assets Sold
    Plant & Equipment 9 102
    Medical Equipment - 15
    Motor Vehicles 30 12
    Furniture & Fittings 20 -
Total Written Down Value of Non-Current Assets Sold 59 129

Net gains/(losses) on Disposal of Non-Current Assets 39 6

Note 3: Expenses
HSA 2013 

$000 
HSA 2012  

$000 
H&CI 2013 

$000 
H&CI 2012 

$000 
Total 2013 

$000 
 Total 2012 

$000 
Employee Expenses
      Salaries & Wages 57,544 59,273 1,178 1,473 58,722 60,746
      WorkCover Premium 1,320 1,184 37 21 1,357 1,205
      Departure Packages 5 16 - - 5 16
      Long Service Leave 1,172 2,529 38 87 1,210 2,616
      Superannuation 5,040 5,122 116 82 5,156 5,204
      Total Employee Expenses 65,081 68,124 1,369 1,663 66,450 69,787

Non Salary Labour Costs
      Fees for Visiting Medical Officers 7,923 7,877 - - 7,923 7,877
     Total Non Salary Labour Costs 7,923 7,877 - - 7,923 7,877

Supplies & Consumables
      Drug Supplies 3,091 2,676 5 5 3,096 2,681
      S100 Drugs - 361 - - - 361
      Medical, Surgical Supplies and     
      Prosthesis 9,839 8,621 530 537 10,369 9,158
      Pathology Supplies 983 951 - 1 983 952
      Food Supplies 1,048 924 237 246 1,285 1,170
      Total Supplies and Consumables 14,961 13,533 772 789 15,733 14,322

Note 2c: Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial Assets
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HSA 2013 
$000 

HSA 2012  
$000 

H&CI 2013 
$000 

H&CI 2012 
$000 

Total 2013 
$000 

 Total 2012 
$000 

Other Expenses
      Domestic Services & Supplies 1,306 1,243 2 8 1,308 1,251
      Fuel, Light, Power and Water 1,210 904 9 7 1,219 911
      Insurance costs funded by  
      Department of Health 1,659 1,429 - - 1,659 1,429
      Motor Vehicle Expenses 241 307 37 21 278 328
      Repairs & Maintenance 1,411 1,506 264 130 1,675 1,636
      Maintenance Contracts 441 409 - - 441 409
      Patient Transport 1,507 1,099 10 10 1,517 1,109
      Bad & Doubtful Debts 146 102 - - 146 102
      Lease Expenses 1,225 1,120 29 23 1,254 1,143
      Other Administrative Expenses 2,766 2,233 983 942 3,749 3,175
      Audit Fees -
        - VAGO -  
        Audit of Financial Statements

37 35 - - 37 35

        - Other 37 21 - - 37 21
     Total Other Expenses 11,986 10,408 1,334 1,141 13,320 11,549

Expenditure using Capital Purpose Income
      Other Expenses
        - Other 107 - - 24 107 24
      Total Other Expenses 107 - - 24 107 24
      Total Expenditure using  
      Capital Purpose Income 107 - - 24 107 24

Impairment of Assets
Depreciation & Amortisation - - 5,833 6,096 5,833 6,096
Total Impairment of Assets - - 5,833 6,096 5,833 6,096
Total Expenses 100,058 99,942 9,308 9,713 109,366 109,655
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Note 3b: Analysis of Expenses by Internally Managed and Restricted Specific 
Purpose Funds for Services Supported by Hospital and Community Initiatives

Total 2013  
$000 

Total 2012  
$000 

Commercial Activities
Private Practice and Other Patient Activities 644 811
Coffee Shop 490 637
Other 2,341 2,145
TOTAL 3,475 3,593

Note 4: Depreciation and Amortisation
Total 2013 

$000
Total 2012 

$000
Depreciation
Buildings 4,373 4,706
Plant & Equipment 448 431
Medical Equipment 751 629
Computers and Communication 37 50
Furniture & Equipment 45 42
Motor Vehicles 144 202
Total Depreciation 5,798 6,060

Amortisation
Intangible Assets 35 36
Total Amortisation 35 36

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 5,833 6,096
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Note 5: Restructuring of administrative arrangements
On the 10th December 2012 the Mental Health services provided by Northeast Health Wangaratta, Albury Wodonga 
Health and Beechworth Health Service were amalgamated to form the legal entity Northeast Border Mental Health 
Services, under the auspice of Albury Wodonga Health. This was proclaimed in the Victorian Government Gazette 
on the 4th December 2012. On the 4th December 2012 the Governor in Council allocated the following assets 
classes from Northeast Health Wangaratta to Albury Wodonga Health, motor vehicles, plant and equipment. The 
Minister for Health and Ageing The Honourable David Davis, MLC, under the Health Services Act 1988, proclaimed 
the 10th December 2012 as the date of the transfer of staff from Northeast Health Wangaratta to Albury Wodonga 
Health. This transfer of staff involved the transferring of associated staff liabilities for long service leave, annual leave 
and accrued days off.

As per FRD 119A and AASB 1004 Contributions all transfers arising from restructures of administrative arrangements 
(including the transfer of net liabilities) must be accounted for as contributed capital. No income has been 
recognised by Northeast Health Wangaratta  in respect of the net liabilities transferred. 

The table below discloses the carrying amount of the transferred assets and liabilities as at 10th December 2012:

 $000 

Assets
Motor Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 299
DoH LSL Debtor 1934
Total Assets 2233
Liabilities
Long Service Liability 1934
Annual Leave Liability 1008
ADO Liability 61
Total Liabilities 3003
Net assets/(liabilities) transferred (770)
Net Capital Contribution (non cash) 770

Note 6: Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash assets includes cash on hand and in banks, and short-term 
deposits which are readily convertible to cash on hand, and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Total 2013 
$000 

Total 2012 
$000 

Cash on Hand 70 68
Cash at Bank 967 535

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,037 603

Represented by:
Cash for Health Service Operations (as per Cash Flow Statement) 1,037 603
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,037 603
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Note 7: Receivables
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012 

$000 
CURRENT
Contractual
Inter Hospital Debtors 197 35
Trade Debtors 826 913
Patient Fees 888 713
Accrued Investment Income 113 155
Accrued Revenue - Other 112 87
Less Allowance for Doubtful Debts
    Trade Debtors (15) (15)
    Patient Fees (52) (52)

2,069 1,836
Statutory
GST Receivable 472 315
Accrued Revenue - Department of Health (DH) 145 452
Accrued Revenue - Dental Health Services Victoria (DHSV) 245 172
Accrued Revenue - Commonwealth 255 283

1,117 1,222
TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES 3,186 3,058

NON CURRENT
Statutory
Long Service Leave - Department of Health (DH) 297 2,459
TOTAL NON CURRENT RECEIVABLES 297 2,459
TOTAL RECEIVABLES 3,483 5,517

Total 2013  
$000 

Total 2012  
$000 

(a) Movement in the Allowance for doubtful debts
Balance at beginning of year 67 70
Amounts written off during the year (146) (105)
Amounts recovered during the year - -
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in net result 146 102
Balance at end of year 67 67

(b) Ageing analysis of receivables
Please refer to note 20(b) for the ageing analysis of receivables

(c) Nature and extent of risk arising from receivables
Please refer to note 20(b) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from receivables
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Note 8: Investments and other Financial Assets

Operating Fund Specific Purpose Fund Capital Fund

Total 2013 
$000 

Total 2012 
$000 

2013 
 $000 

2012 
 $000 

2013 
 $000 

2012 
 $000 

2013 
 $000 

2012 
 $000 

Current
Term Deposit
    Australian Dollar 
Bank Term Deposits 
> 3 months

4,448 5,661 1,219 783 2,668 3,895 8,335 10,339

Monies Held in Trust 5 4                -                  -                  -                  -   5 4
Total Current 4,453 5,665 1,219 783 2,668 3,895 8,340 10,343
Total Investments 
and Other Financial 
Assets 4,453 5,665 1,219 783 2,668 3,895 8,340 10,343

Represented by:
Health Service 
Investments 4,448 5,661 1,219 783 2,668 3,895 8,335 10,339
Monies Held In Trust
- Patient Monies 5 4 - - - - 5 4
Total Investments 
and Other Financial 
Assets 4,453 5,665 1,219 783 2,668 3,895 8,340 10,343

(b) Ageing analysis of other financial assets

Please refer to note 20(b) for the ageing analysis of other financial assets

(c) Nature and extent of risk arising from other financial assets

Please refer to note 20(b) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from other financial assets

Note 9: Inventories
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 
Pharmaceuticals- at cost 188 298
Catering Supplies - at cost 39 42
Housekeeping Supplies - at cost 12 20
Medical and Surgical Lines - at cost 635 614
Engineering Stores - at cost 24 24
Administration Stores - at cost 36 26
Total Inventories 934 1,024

Note 10: Other Assets 
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 
Current
Prepayments 175 227
Share of Hume Rural Health Alliance (HRHA) Other Assets 11 15
Total Current Other Assets 186 242
Total Other Assets 186 242
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Note 11:  Property, Plant & Equipment
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 
Land 
Crown Land at fair value 2,964 2,964
Total Land 2,964 2,964

Buildings
Buildings at fair value 70,534 81,509
     Less Accumulated Depreciation 59 15,169
Total Buildings 70,475 66,340

Plant and Equipment 
Plant and Equipment at Fair Value 7,974 7,180
     Less Accumulated Depreciation 4,413 4,011
Total Plant & Equipment 3,561 3,169

Medical Equipment 
Medical Equipment at Fair Value 9,587 9,288
     Less Accumulated Depreciation 6,500 6,187
Total Medical Equipment 3,087 3,101

Computers and Communication 
Computers and Communication at Fair Value 742 737
     Less Accumulated Depreciation 669 659
Total Computers and Communications 73 78

Furniture and Fittings 
Furniture and Fittings at Fair Value 789 716
     Less Accumulated Depreciation 344 341
Total Furniture and Fittings 445 375

Motor Vehicles 
Motor Vehicles at Fair Value 992 1,568
     Less Accumulated Depreciation 633 1,129
Total Motor Vehicles 359 439

 Work in Progress 2,697 742
Total 83,661 77,208
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset at the beginning and end of previous and current 
financial year is set out below

Land  
$000 

Buildings  
$000 

Plant & 
Equip- 
ment  
$000 

Medical 
Equip- 
ment  
$000 

Comp- 
uters & 

Com- 
munctns  

$000 

Furniture 
& Fittings  

$000 

Motor  
Vehicles  

$000 

Work  in 
Progress 

$000 
Total  
$000 

Balance at 1 July 2011 2,964 70,829 2,652 2,907 88 381 270 368 80,459
Additions - 17 266 836 40 30 383 1,366 2,938
Disposals - - (104) (13) - - (12) - (129)
Net Transfers between 
classes - 200 786 - - 6 - (992) -
Depreciation and 
Amortisation (note 4) - (4,706) (431) (629) (50) (42) (202) - (6,060)

Balance at 1 July 2012 2,964 66,340 3,169 3,101 78 375 439 742 77,208
Additions - 48 369 765 34 115 240 3,994 5,565
Disposals - - (141) (28) (2) (11) (176) - (358)
Revaluation 
Increments/
(Decrements) - 7,044 - - - - - - 7,044
Net Transfers between 
classes - 1,416 612 - - 11 - (2,039) -
Depreciation and 
Amortisation (note 4) - (4,373) (448) (751) (37) (45) (144) - (5,798)

Balance at 30 June 
2013 2,964 70,475 3,561 3,087 73 445 359 2,697 83,661

Land and buildings carried at valuation.

A managerial revaluation of the buildings asset class was undertaken by Northeast Health Wangaratta as at 30th  
June 2013. This was undertaken in accordance with the requirements contained in FRD 103D Non-Current Physical 
Assets which requires a managerial revaluation where there is a material movement (between 10% - 40%)in fair 
values as indicated by the compounded impact of VGV indices since the last scheduled revaluation (June 2009). 
This revaluation has been approved by the Chief Finance Officer of the Department of Health. Land is carried at 
the value determined by the Valuer General Victoria.  The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2009.

An independent valuation of Northeast Health Wangaratta’s land was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria 
to determine the fair value of the land . The valuation, which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was 
determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction. The valuation was based on independent assessments. The effective date of 
the valuation is 30 June 2009.
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Note 12: Intangible Assets
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 
Software 799 780
     Less Accumulated Amortisation 753 718
Total Intangible Assets 46 62

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning and end of the previous and current 
financial year

Total $000

Balance at 1 July 2011 93
Additions 5
Disposals -
Amortisation (note 4) (36)
Balance at 1 July 2012 62
Additions 19
Disposals -
Amortisation (note 4) (35)
Balance at 30 June 2013 46

Note 13: Payables
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 
Current
Contractual
Trade Creditors (i) 2,536 1,557
Accrued Expenses 2,164 2,162
Income in Advance 532 82
Share of HRHA Payables 125 170

5,357 3,971
Statutory
GST Payable 36 48
Department of Health (Income in Advance) (ii) 1,394 1,367

1,430 1,415
Total 6,787 5,386
(i) The average credit period is 30 days

(iI) Terms and conditions of amounts payable to the Department of Health vary according to the particular 
agreement with the department.

(a) Maturity analysis of payables

Please refer to Note 20(c) for the ageing analysis of payables

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from payables

Please refer to Note 20(c) for the nature and extent of risks arising from payables
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Note 14: Provisions
Total 2013 

$000
Total 2012 

$000
Current Provisions
Employee Benefits 
- unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months 5,188 6,085
- unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months 8,313 9,336

Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs
- unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (nominal value) 364 457
- unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (present value) 976 984
Total Current Provisions 14,841 16,862

Non-Current Provisions
Employee Benefits 2,251 2,990
Provisions related to employee benefit on-costs 250 332
Total Non-Current Provisions 2,501 3,322
Total Provisions 17,342 20,184

Total 2013 
$000

Total  2012 
$000

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 

Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs
Unconditional LSL entitlements 7,167 7,940
Annual Leave entitlements 5,555 5,986
Accrued Salaries and Wages 1,975 2,705
Accrued Days Off 144 231

Non-Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs
Conditional long service leave entitlements (present value) 2,501 3,322
Total Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 17,342 20,184

(b) Movements in provisions
Movement in Long Service Leave:
Balance at start of year 11,262 9,713
Provision made during the year 1,210 2,616
Settlement made during the year (870) (1,067)
LSL transferred as per Note 5 (1,934) (1,067)
Balance at end of year 9,668 11,262
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Note 15: Superannuation
Employees of the Health Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Health Services contributes 
to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.

The defined benefit plan(s) provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary. 

The Health Service does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan(s) because the entity 
has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay 
superannuation contributions as they fall due. The Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State’s defined 
benefits liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. However superannuation contributions paid or payable for 
the reporting period are included as part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of the 
Health Service.

The name, details and amounts expense in relation to the major employee superannuation funds and contributions 
made by the Health Services are as follows:

Paid contribution 
 for the year

Contribution 
outstanding at year end 

Total 2013  
$000 

Total 2012  
$000 

Total 2013  
$000 

Total 2012  
$000 

Defined benefit plans:
First State Super 230 252 17 18
Defined contribution plans:
First State Super 3,704 3,787 270 292
Hesta Super 1,163 1,108 94 87
State Superannuation Fund (SSF) 36 78 - 19
State Employees Retirment Benefits Scheme 6 13 - 3
Total 5,139 5,238 381 419

Note 16: Other Liabilities
Total 2013 

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 
Current  
Monies Held in Trust *
- Patient Monies Held in Trust 5 4
Other 410 175
Total Other Liabilities 415 179

* Total Monies Held in Trust
Represented by the following assets:
Other Financial Assets (refer to note 8) 5 4
Total 5 4

Note 17: Equity
 Total 2013  

$000 
 Total 2012 

$000 
(a) Surpluses
Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus 1

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 48,870 48,870
Revaluation Increment/(Decrement) 
- Land - -
- Buildings 7,044 -
Balance at the end of the reporting period * 55,914 48,870
* Represented by:
- Land 756 756
- Buildings 55,158 48,114

55,914 48,870
(1) The property, plant & equipment asset revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of property, plant & equipment.
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 Total 2013  
$000 

 Total 2012 
$000 

(b) Contributed capital
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 38,302 38,302
Capital contribution received from the Victorian State Government - non cash (Note 5) 770 -
Balance at the end of the reporting period 39,072 38,302

(c) Accumulated Surpluses/(Deficits)
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period (17,922) (14,082)
Net Result for the Year (3,921) (3,840)
Balance at the end of the reporting period (21,843) (17,922)

(d) Total Equity at end of financial year 73,143 69,250

Note 18: Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) 
from Operating Activities

Total 2013  
$000 

Total 2012  
$000 

Net Result for the Year (3,921) (3,840)

Non-cash movements:
Depreciation & Amortisation 5,833 6,096

Movements included in investing and financing activities:
Net (Gain)/Loss from Sale of Plant and Equipment (39) (6)

Movements in assets and liabilities:
Change in Operating Assets & Liabilites 
    Increase/(Decrease) in Payables 1,401 376
    Increase/(Decrease ) in Employee Benefits 161 2,813
    (Increase)/Decrease in Receivables 100 (1,629)
    (Increase)/Decrease in Prepayments 52 (7)
    (Increase)/Decrease in Other Assets 4 7
    (Increase)/Decrease in Stores 90 (80)
     Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities 236 49

Net Cash Inflow/(Outflow) from Operating Activities 3,917 3,779

Note 19: Non-cash financing and investing activities
Total 2013  

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 

Transfer of assets (2,233) -
Transfer of liabilities 3,003 -
Total Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities 770 -

Refer to Note 5 for further details regarding the non- cash transactions.
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Note 20:  Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Northeast Health Wangaratta’s principal financial instruments comprise of:

- Cash Assets

- Term Deposits

- Receivables (excluding statutory receivables)

- Payables (excluding statutory receivables)

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the 
basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of 
financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

The Health Service’s main financial risks include credit risk and liquidity risk. The Health Service manages these 
financial risks in accordance with its financial risk management policy.

The Health Service uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to which it is exposed. Primary 
responsibility for the identification and management of financial risks rests with the  risk management committee of 
the Health Service.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage Northeast Health Wangaratta’s financial 
risks within the government policy parameters.

Categorisation of financial instruments

Note Category  Carrying  
Amount 2013  

$000 

 Carrying  
Amount 2012 

$000 
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 NA 1,037 603
Receivables 7 Loans and Receivables 2,069 1,836
Other Financial assets 8 Loans and Receivables 8,340 10,343

Financial Liabilities
Payables 13 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 5,357 3,971
Other Liabilities 15 Financial liabilities at amortised cost 415 179

Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

 Net holding 
gain/(loss) 
2013 $000 

 Net holding 
gain/(loss) 
2012  $000 

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (i) - -
Receivables (i) - -
Other Financial assets 526 710
Total Financial Assets 526 710

Financial Liabilities
Payables (i) - -
Other Liabilities - -
Total Financial Liabilities - -

(i) For cash and cash equivalents, loans or receivables, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the movement in 
the fair value of the assets, interest revenue and minus any impairment recognised in the net result. 
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(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of the Health Service, which comprise cash and deposits and 
non-statutory receivables. The Health Service’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counter 
party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Health Service. Credit risk is measured at fair 
value and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with the Health Service’s contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is 
the Victorian Government. For debtors other than the Government, it is the Health Sevice’s policy to only deal with 
entities with high credit ratings and to obtain sufficient collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, the Health Service does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly obtains 
contractual financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash at bank. As with 
the policy for debtors, the Health Service’s policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that the 
Health Service will not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of the 
debtor, default payments, debts which are more than 60 days overdue and changes in debtor credit ratings.

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets recorded 
in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents Northeast Health Wangaratta’s maximum 
exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value on any collateral obtained.

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due or impaired

Financial 
Institutions 
(AA credit 

rating) $000 

Government 
agencies 

(AAA credit 
rating) $000 Other  $000 Total  $000 

2013
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,037 - - 1,037
Receivables
- Trade Debtors - 197 811 1,008
- Other Receivables (i) 113 - 948 1,061
Other Financial Assets
- Term Deposit 8,335 - - 8,335
- Monies held in Trust 5 - - 5
Total Financial Assets 9,490 197 1,759 11,446

2012
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 603 - - 603
Receivables
- Trade Debtors - 35 898 933
- Other Receivables 155 - 748 903
Other Financial Assets
- Term Deposit 10,339 - - 10,339
- Monies held in Trust 4 - - 4
Total Financial Assets 11,101 35 1,646 12,782

(i) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g amounts owing from the Victorian Government 
and GST input tax credit recoverable)
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Ageing analysis of financial assets as at 30 June

Consol'd 
Carrying  
Amount  

$000 

Not Past 
Due and Not 

Impaired 
$000 

Past Due But Not Impaired
 Less than 1 

Month  $000 
1-3 Months 

$000 
3 months -1 

Year $000 
1-5 Years  

$000 

2013
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,037 1,037 - - - -
Receivables
- Trade Debtors 1,008 566 - 401 41 -
- Other Receivables 1,061 659 - 316 86 -
Other Financial Assets
- Term Deposit 8,335 8,335 - - - -
- Monies held in Trust 5 5 - - - -
Total Financial Assets 11,446 10,602 - 717 127 -

2012
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 603 603 - - - -
Receivables
- Trade Debtors 933 670 - 240 23 -
- Other Receivables 903 637 - 201 65 -
Other Financial Assets
- Term Deposit 10,339 10,339 - - - -
- Monies held in Trust 4 4 - - - -
Total Financial Assets 12,782 12,253 - 441 88 -

There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired. Currently Northeast Health 
Wangaratta does not  hold any collateral as secuity nor credit enhancements relating to any of its financial assets.

There are no financial assets that have had their terms renegotiated so as to prevent them from being past due or 
impaired, and they are stated at the carrying amounts as indicated. The ageing analysis table above discloses the 
ageing only of contractual financial assets that are past due but not impaired.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Health Service would be unable to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall 
due. The Health Service operates under the Government’s fair payments policy of settling financial obligations within 
30 days and in the event of a dispute, making payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

The Health Service’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed on 
the face of the balance sheet.

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for Northeast Health Wangaratta’s financial liabilities. 
For interest rates applicable to each class of liability refer to the individual notes to the financial statements.
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Maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at 30 June

Maturity Dates

Carrying 
Amount $000 

Contractual 
Cash Flows 

$000 
 Less  than 1  
month $000 

 1-3  Months  
$000 

 3 months  - 1 
Year  $000 

 1 - 5  Years  
$000 

 Over 5  
Years  $000 

2013
Payables:
Trade creditors and 
accruals

5,357 5,357 5,341 16 - - -

Other Financial 
Liabilities 415 415 - - - - -
Total Financial Liabilities 5,772 5,772 5,341 16 - - -

2012
Payables:
Trade creditors and 
accruals

3,971 3,971 3,446 525 - - -

Other Financial 
Liabilities 179 179 - - - - -
Total Financial Liabilities 4,150 4,150 3,446 525 - - -

(d) Market Risk

Northeast Health Wangaratta's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant 
exposure to other price risks. Objectives, policies and processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed 
in the paragraph below.

Currency Risk

Northeast Health Wangaratta is  exposed to insiginificant foreign currency risk through its payables relating 
to purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas. This is because of a limited amount of purchases 
denominated in foreign currencies and a short timeframe between commitment and settlement.

Interest Rate Risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate  because of 
changes in market interest rates.

The Health Service manages this risk by mainly undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial instruments 
with relatively even maturity profiles, and with only insignificant amounts at a floating rate. Management has 
concluded for cash at bank and bank overdraft, as financial assets that can be left at floating rate without 
necessarily exposing the Health Service to significant bad risk, management monitors movement in interest rates 
on a daily basis.
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Interest Rate Exposure of Financial Assets and Liabilities as at 30 June

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 

interest Rate  
(%) 

Carrying 
Amount $000 

Interest Rate Exposure

Fixed Interest 
Rate $000 

Variable 
Interest Rate  

$000 
Non Interest 

Bearing $000 
2013
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 0.01% 1,037 - 967 70
Receivables - 2,069 - - 2,069
Other Financial Assets 4.42% 8,340 8,355 - 5

11,446 8,335 967 2,144
Financial Liabilities
Trade creditors and 
accruals - 5,357 - - 5,357
Other Financial 
Liabilities - 415 - - 415

5,772 - - 5,772
2012
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash 
Equivalents 0.03% 603 - 535 68
Receivables - 1,836 - - 1,836
Other Financial Assets 5.71% 10,343 10,339 - 4

12,782 10,339 535 1,908
Financial Liabilities
Trade creditors and 
accruals - 3,971 - - 3,971
Other Financial 
Liabilities - 179 - - 179

4,150 - - 4,150

Sensitivity Disclosure Analysis

Taking into account  past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management’s knowledge 
and experience of the financial markets, Northeast Health Wangaratta believes the following movements are 
‘reasonably possible’ over the next 12 months (Base rates are sourced from the Reserve Bank of Australia):

- a parallel shift of +1% and -1% in market interest rates (AUD) from year end rates of 6%;

- a parallel shift of + 1% and -1% in inflation rates from year end rates of 2% (not analysed).

The following table discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category of interest bearing 
financial instrument held by Northeast Health Wangaratta at year end as presented to key management personnel, 
if changes in the relevant risk occur.
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Carrying 
Amount

Interest Rate Risk
-1%  +1% 

Profit $000  Equity $000  Profit $000  Equity $000 
2013
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,037 (10) (10) 10 10
Receivables 2,069 - - - -
Other financial assets 8,340 (83) (83) 83 83
Financial Liabilities
Trade creditors and accruals 5,357 - - - -
Other Fiancial Liabilities 415 - - - -

Carrying 
Amount

Interest Rate Risk
-1%  +1% 

Profit $000  Equity $000  Profit $000  Equity $000 
2012
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 603 (6) (6) 6 6
Receivables 1,836 - - - -
Other financial assets 10,343 (103) (103) 103 103
Financial Liabilities
Trade creditors and accruals 3,971 - - - -
Other Fiancial Liabilities 179 - - - -

(e) Fair Value

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 

Level 1- the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid markets 
are determined with reference to qouted market prices;

Level 2 - the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 - the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted 
cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs. 

Northeast Health Wangaratta considers that the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and liabilities 
recorded in the financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values, because of the short term nature 
of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full.

The following table shows that the fair value of most of the contractual financial assets and liabilities are the same as 
the carrying amounts.

Comparison between carrying amount and fair value

Consol'd 
Carrying  

Amount 2013 
 $000 

Fair value 
2013  
$000 

Consol'd 
Carrying  
Amount 

 2012 
 $000 

Fair value 
2012 

  $000 
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,037 1,037 603 603
Receivables
- Trade Debtors 1,008 1,008 933 933
- Other Receivables 1,061 1,061 903 903
Other Financial Assets
- Term Deposit 8,335 8,335 10,339 10,339
- Monies held in Trust 5 5 4 4
Total Financial Assets 11,446 11,446 12,782 12,782

Financial Liabilities
Payables 5,357 5,357 3,971 3,971
Other Liabilities 415 415 179 179
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Total Financial Liabilities 5,772 5,772 4,150 4,150
Note 21:  Commitments for Expenditure

 Total 2013 
$000 

 Total 2012  
$000 

Capital Expenditure Commitments
Payable:
Land and Buildings 1,540 4,073
Plant and Equipment 1,175 1,795
Total Capital Commitments 2,715 5,868

Land and Buildings
   Not later than one year 1,540 4,073
Plant and Equipment
   Not later than one year 1,175 1,795
Total 2,715 5,868

Other Expenditure Commitments
Payable:
Pathology 3,202 4,139
Maintenance & Information Technology 117 227
Total Other Commitments 3,319 4,366

Not later than one year 1,185 1,148
Later than one year and not later than 5 years 2,134 3,218
Later than 5 years - -
Total 3,319 4,366

Lease Commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the reporting date:
Operating Leases 2,368 2,950
Total Lease Commitments 2,368 2,950

Operating Leases
Non-Cancellable
Not later than one year 1,239 1,179
Later than one year but not later than 5 years 1,112 1,686
Later than 5 years 17 85

Total 2,368 2,950

Total Commitments for expenditure (inclusive of GST) 8,402 13,184
less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (764) (1,199)
Total Commitments for expenditure (exclusive of GST) 7,638 11,985

Note 22 - Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities
Northeast Health Wangaratta does not have any contingent assets or contingent liabilitiesas at 30 June 2013 (2012:$ 
Nil).
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Note 23:  Operating Segments 

Hospital  
2013  $000 

Hospital 
2012 $000 

Mental 
Health 2013  

$000 

Mental 
Health 2012  

$000 
RAC 2013  

$000 
RAC 2012  

$000 
 Total  2013  

$000 
 Total  2012  

$000 

Revenue
External 
Segment 
Revenue 92,399 87,660 5,786 10,911 6,744 6,549 104,929 105,120
Total Revenue 92,399 87,660 5,786 10,911 6,744 6,549 104,929 105,120
Expenses
External 
Segment 
Expense (90,911) (85,781) (5,839) (11,327) (6,783) (6,451) (103,533) (103,559)
Unallocated 
Expense
- Depreciation 
& Amortisation (4,759) (4,988) (362) (395) (712) (713) (5,833) (6,096)
Total Expenses (95,670) (90,769) (6,201) (11,722) (7,495) (7,164) (109,366) (109,655)
Net Result 
from ordinary 
activities (3,271) (3,109) (415) (811) (751) (615) (4,437) (4,535)

Interest Income 516 695 - - - - 516 695
Net Result for 
Year (2,755) (2,414) (415) (811) (751) (615) (3,921) (3,840)
Other 
Information
Total Segment 
Assets 80,084 77,863 3,965 4,191 13,638 12,945 97,687 94,999

Total Segment 
Liabilities 23,491 22,126 - 2,673 1,053 950 24,544 25,749

The major products/services from which the above segments derive revenue are:

Business Segments Services

Hospital Acute & Sub acute inpatient and outpatient services, District Nursing and Allied Health Services

Mental Health Inpatient, Community & Aged Mental Health services

Residential Aged  
Care (RAC) Nursing Home

The basis of inter-segment pricing is at cost.

RAC Segment Expenses  2013  $000  2012  $000 

Care employee expenses 4,272 4,001
Other employee expenses 758 720
Depreciation 712 713
Other operating expenses 1,753 1,730
Total 7,495 7,164

Geographical Segment

Northeast Health Wangaratta operates predominantly in Wangaratta, Victoria.  More than 90% of revenue, net 
surplus from ordinary activities and segment assets relate to operations in Wangaratta, Victoria.
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Note 24: Jointly Controlled Operations and Assets

Name of Entity
 Ownership Interest 

Principal Activity 2013 2012
Hume Rural Health Alliance Information Systems 13.32% 13.15%

Northeast Health Wangaratta's interest in assets and liabilities employed in the above jointly controlled operations 
and assets is detailed below.

The amounts are included in the financial statements under their respective asset categories.

Total 2013  
$000 

Total 2012  
$000 

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 187 163 
Receivables 146 195
Other Assets 12 15
Total Current Assets 345 373
Total Assets 345 373

Current Liabilities
Payables 125 170
Other Liabilities - -
Total Current Liabilities 125 170
Total Liabilities 125 170

Northeast Health Wangaratta's interest in revenues and expenses resulting from jointly controlled operations and 
assets is detailed below:

Total 2013 
$000

Total 2012 
$000

Revenue
Operating Activities 452 308
Non-operating Activities 4 7
Capital Purpose Income (1) -
Total Revenue 455 315

Expenses
Employee Benefits 253 238
Other Expenses from Continuing Operations 135 89
Depreciation 4 5
Expenditure using Capital Purpose Income - 26
Total Expenses 392 358
Profit/(Loss) 63 (43)
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Note 25a - Responsible Person  Disclosures
In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 
1994, the following disclosures are made regarding responsible persons for the reporting period.

Responsible Ministers: Period
The Honourable David Davis, MLC, Minister for Health and Ageing 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013
The Honourable Mary Wooldrige, MLA, Minister for Mental Health 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013

Board of Management Period
Ms C E Cunningham President 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013
Mr B J Schutt Vice President 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013
Mr D R Lawson Director 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013
Ms L A Williamson Director 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013
Ms K M Harmon Director 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013
Mr A R Wills Director 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013
Mr E Higgins Director 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013
Mr R R M Lawford Director 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013

Accountable Officer Period
Ms M Bennett 1/07/2012 - 30/06/2013

Remuneration of Responsible Persons

The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands;

Income Band 2013  No. 2012  No. 

$0 - $9,999 8 9
$240,000 - $249,999 - 1
$250,000 - $259,999 1 -
Total Numbers 9 10

$000 $000

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by Responsible Persons from the  
Reporting entity amounted to:

255 243

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the Department of Premier and 
Cabinet.
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Note 25b: Executive Officer Disclosures
Executive Officers’ Remuneration

The number of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their total remuneration during 
the reporting period are shown in the first two columns in the table below in their relevant income bands. The base 
remuneration of executive officers is shown in the third and fourth columns. Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus 
payments, long-service leave payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits.

Total Remuneration  Base Remuneration 
2013 No. 2012 No. 2013 No. 2012 No. 

$100,000 - $109,999 - 1 - 1
$140,000 - $149,999 - 1 - 1
$150,000 - $159,999 - 1 - 1
$160,000 - $169,000 1 - 1 -
$170,000 - $179,000 1 - 1 -
$260,000 - $269,999 - 1 - 1
$270,000 - $279,999 1 - 1 -
Total 3 4 3 4
Total annualised employee equivalent (AEE)* 3.0 3.2 3.0 3.2

 $000  $000  $000  $000 
Total remuneration for the reporting period for Executive 
Officers included above amounted to: 593 681 590 681 
Note:

* Annualised employee equivalent is based on working 38 ordinary hours per week over the reporting period.

Note 26 - Remuneration of auditors
Total 2013 

$000 
Total 2012  

$000 
Victorian Auditor-General's Olffice
Audit or review of financial statement 37,500 36,800

Note 27 - Events occurring after the Balance Sheet Date
Northeast Health Wangaratta does not have any events occurring after the Balance Sheet Date.

Note 28 - Economic dependency
Northeast Health Wangaratta is wholly dependent on the continued financial support of the State Government 
and in particular, the Department of Health.

The Department of Health has provided confirmation that it will continue to provide Northeast Health Wangaratta 
adequate cash flow support to meet its current and future obligations as and when they fall due for a period up to 
September 2014.
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Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined 
benefit plans
Actuarial gains or losses reflect movements in the 
superannuation liability resulting from differences 
between the assumptions used to calculate the 
superannuation expense and actual experience.

Amortisation
Amortisation is the expense which results from the 
consumption, extraction or use over time of a non-
produced physical or intangible asset. 

Associates
Associates are all entities over which an entity 
has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding and voting rights of 
between 20 per cent and 50 per cent.

Comprehensive result
The net result of all items of income and expense 
recognised for the period. It is the aggregate of 
operating result and other non-owner movements in 
equity.

Commitments
Commitments include those operating, capital and 
other outsourcing commitments arising from non-
cancellable contractual or statutory sources.

Current grants
Amounts payable or receivable for current purposes 
for which no economic benefits of equal value are 
receivable or payable in return.

Depreciation
Depreciation is an expense that arises from the 
consumption through wear or time of a produced 
physical or intangible asset. This expense reduces the 
‘net result for the year’.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is used to calculate the 
amortised cost of a financial asset or liability and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period

Employee benefits expenses
Employee benefits expenses include all costs related 
to employment including wages and salaries, 
fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy 
payments, defined benefits superannuation plans, 
and defined contribution superannuation plans.

Ex gratia payments
Ex gratia payment is the gratuitous payment of money 
where no legal obligation exists.

Financial asset
A financial asset is any asset that is: 
(a) cash; 
(b) an equity instrument of another entity; 
(c) a contractual or statutory right:

• to receive cash or another financial asset from 
another entity; or

• to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
with another entity under conditions

• that are potentially favourable to the entity; or
(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s 
own equity instruments and is:

• a non-derivative for which the entity is or may 
be obliged to receive a variable number of the 
entity’s own equity instruments; or

• a derivative that will or may be settled other than 
by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or 
another financial asset for a fixed number of the 
entity’s own equity instruments.

Financial instrument
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets 
or liabilities that are not contractual (such as statutory 
receivables or payables that arise as a result of 
statutory requirements imposed by governments) are 
not financial instruments.

Financial liability
A financial liability is any liability that is:

(a) A contractual obligation:

(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another 
entity; or

(ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
with another entity under conditions

that are potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

(b) A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s 
own equity instruments and is:

(i) a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be 
obliged to deliver a variable number

of the entity’s own equity instruments; or

(ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than 
by the exchange of a fixed amount of

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of 
the entity’s own equity instruments. For this purpose 
the entity’s own equity instruments do not include 
instruments that are themselves contracts for the 
future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own equity 
instruments.

NOTE 29:  Glossary of terms and style conventions
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Financial statements
Depending on the context of the sentence where the 
term ‘financial statements’ is used, it may include only 
the main financial statements (i.e. comprehensive 
operating statement, balance sheet, cash flow 
statements, and statement of changes in equity); or 
it may also be used to replace the old term ‘financial 
report’ under the revised AASB 101 (September 
2007), which means it may include the main financial 
statements and the notes.

Grants and other transfers
Transactions in which one unit provides goods, 
services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour to 
another unit without receiving approximately equal 
value in return. Grants can either be operating or 
capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the 
provision of some goods or services to the transferor, 
they do not give the transferor a claim to receive 
directly benefits of approximately equal value. For 
this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as 
involuntary transfers and are termed non-reciprocal 
transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately 
equal value may occur, but only by coincidence. For 
example, governments are not obliged to provide 
commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or 
services, to particular taxpayers in return for their 
taxes. Grants can be paid as general purpose grants 
which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions 
regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as 
specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular 
purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding 
their use.

General government sector
The general government sector comprises all 
government departments, offices and other bodies 
engaged in providing services free of charge or at 
prices significantly below their cost of production. 
General government services include those which are 
mainly non market in nature, those which are largely 
for collective consumption by the community and 
those which involve the transfer or redistribution of 
income. These services are financed mainly through 
taxes, or other compulsory levies and user charges.

Intangible produced assets
Refer to produced assets in this glossary.

Intangible non-produced assets
Refer to non-produced asset in this glossary.

Interest expense
Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of 
funds includes interest on bank overdrafts and short-
term and long-term liabilities, amortisation of discounts 
or premiums relating to liabilities, interest component 
of finance leases repayments, and the increase in 
financial liabilities and non-employee provisions due 
to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the passage of 
time.

Interest income
Interest income includes unwinding over time of 
discounts on financial assets and interest received on 
bank term deposits and other investments.

Investment properties
Investment properties represent properties held to 
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. 
Investment properties exclude properties held to meet 
service delivery objectives of the State of Victoria.

Joint ventures
Joint ventures are contractual arrangements between 
the Department and one or more other parties to 
undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint 
control. Joint control only exists when the strategic 
financial and operating decisions relating to the 
activity require the unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control (the venturers).

Liabilities
Liabilities refers to interest-bearing liabilities mainly 
raised from public liabilities raisedthrough the Treasury 
Corporation of Victoria, finance leases and other 
interest-bearingarrangements. Liabilities also include 
non-interest-bearing advances from government that 
are acquired for policy purposes.

Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from 
transactions)
Purchases (and other acquisitions) of non-financial 
assets less sales (or disposals) of non-financial assets 
less depreciation plus changes in inventories and other 
movements in non-financial assets. It includes only 
those increases or decreases in non-financial assets 
resulting from transactions and therefore excludes 
write-offs, impairment write-downs and revaluations.

Net result
Net result is a measure of financial performance of 
the operations for the period. It is the net result of 
items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) 
recognised for the period, excluding those that are 
classified as ‘other comprehensive income’.

Net result from transactions/net operating balance 
Net result from transactions or net operating balance 
is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from 
transactions minus expenses from transactions. It is 
a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of 
operations. It excludes gains and losses resulting from 
changes in price levels and other changes in the 
volume of assets. 

Net worth
Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of 
wealth.

Non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are all assets that are not 
‘financial assets’. It includes inventories, land, 
buildings, infrastructure, road networks, land under 
roads, plant and equipment, investment properties, 
cultural and heritage assets, intangible and biological 
assets.
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Non-produced assets
Non-produced assets are assets needed for 
production that have not themselves been produced. 
They include land, subsoil assets, and certain 
intangible assets. Non-produced intangibles are 
intangible assets needed for production that have not 
themselves been produced. They include constructs 
of society such as patents.

Non-profit institution
A legal or social entity that is created for the purpose 
of producing or distributing goods and services but is 
not permitted to be a source of income, profit or other 
financial gain for the units that establish, control or 
finance it.

Payables
Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts 
payable, grants, taxes and interest payable.

Produced assets
Produced assets include buildings, plant and 
equipment, inventories, cultivated assets and certain 
intangible assets. Intangible produced assets may 
include computer software, motion picture films, and 
research and development costs (which does not 
include the start up costs associated with capital 
projects).

Public financial corporation sector
Public financial corporations (PFCs) are bodies 
primarily engaged in the provision of financial 
intermediation services or auxiliary financial services. 
They are able to incur financial liabilities on their 
own account (e.g. taking deposits, issuing securities 
or providing insurance services). Estimates are not 
published for the public financial corporation sector.

Public non-financial corporation sector
The public non-financial corporation (PNFC) sector 
comprises bodies mainly engaged in the production 
of goods and services (of a non-financial nature) 
for sale in the market place at prices that aim to 
recover most of the costs involved (e.g. water 
and port authorities). In general, PNFCs are legally 
distinguishable from the governments which own 
them.

Receivables
Includes amounts owing from government through 
appropriation receivable, short and long term trade 
credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment 
income, grants, taxes and interest receivable.

Sales of goods and services
Refers to income from the direct provision of goods 
and services and includes fees and charges for 
services rendered, sales of goods and services, fees 
from regulatory services and work done as an agent 
for private enterprises. It also includes rental income 
under operating leases and on

produced assets such as buildings and entertainment, 
but excludes rent income from the use of non-
produced assets such as land. User charges includes 
sale of goods and services income.

Supplies and services
Supplies and services generally represent cost 
of goods sold and the day-to-day running costs, 
including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal 
operations of the Department.

Transactions
Revised Transactions are those economic flows that 
are considered to arise as a result of policy decisions, 
usually an interaction between two entities by mutual 
agreement. They also include flows in an entity such as 
depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting 
as the owner of the depreciating asset and as the 
consumer of the service provided by the asset. 

Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions 
between the government and taxpayers. Transactions 
can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of 
charge or for nominal consideration) or where the final 
consideration is cash. 

Style conventions

Figures in the tables and in the text have been 
rounded. Discrepancies in tables between totals and 
sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage 
variations in all tables are based on the underlying 
unrounded amounts.

The notation used in the tables is as follows: 
zero, or rounded to zero 
(xxx.x) negative numbers 
200x year period
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Northeast Health Wangaratta 
 

Board Member’s, Accountable Officer’s and 
Chief Finance & Accounting Officer’s declaration 

 
 
       We certify that the attached financial statements for Northeast Health Wangaratta have 

been prepared in accordance with Standing Direction 4.2 of the Financial Management 
 Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards, 

Australian Accounting Interpretations and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements. 

 
 
       We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the Comprehensive 
 Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Cash Flow 

Statement and notes to and forming part of the financial statements, presents fairly the 
financial transactions during the year ended 30 June 2013 and financial position of 
Northeast Health Wangaratta at 30 June 2013. 

 
 
       At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any 

particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on this day. 
 
 
               
 
 

 _______________  _______________   _______________ 
 

 Christine Cunningham Margaret Bennett   Don Tidbury 
        President   Chief Executive Officer  Chief Operating 
        Board of Management      Officer, CPA 
 
        Wangaratta   Wangaratta    Wangaratta 
        28 August 2013  28 August 2013   28 August 2013 
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